
DIRECTIVE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR 
Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs 

Number: 306 Date: January 29, 2013 ADM Notice 

1. SUBJECT: Complying with Nondiscrimination Provisions: Criminal Record Restrictions 
and Discrimination Based on Race and National Origin 

2. PURPOSE: The purpose of this Directive is to provide information to federal contractors 
and subcontractors and federally-assisted construction contractors and subcontractors 
(contractors) and to OFCCP personnel about: (1) the circumstances in which exclusions of 
applicants or employees based on their criminal records may violate existing 
nondiscrimination obligations; (2) the Training and Employment Guidance Letter (TEGL) 
31-11 issued on May 25, 2012 to the American Job Center network and other covered entities 
in the public workforce system by the Department of Labor's Employment and Training 
Administration (ETA) and Civil Rights Center (CRC); and (3) the Enforcement Guidance 
issued by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) on April 25, 2012. 

3. EFFECTIVE DATE: This directive is effective immediately. 

4. BACKGROUND: In recent decades, the number of Americans who have had contact with 
the criminal justice system has increased exponentially. It is estimated that about one in 
three adults now has a criminal history record - which often consists of an arrest that did not 
lead to conviction, a conviction for which the person was not sentenced to a term of 
incarceration, or a conviction for a non-violent crime. 1 On any given day, about 2.3 million 
people are incarcerated2 and each year 700,000 people are released from prison3 and almost 
13 million are admitted to- and released from - local jails.4 

Racial and ethnic disparities are reflected in incarceration rates. According to the Pew 
Center on the States, one in 106 white men, one in 36 Hispanic men, and one in 15 African 
American men are incarcerated. 5 Additionally, on average, one in 31 adults is under 

1 See Written Testimony of Amy Solomon, Senior Advisor to the Assistant Attorney General, Office of Justice 
Programs, U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ), submitted for EEOC Meeting to Examine Arrest and Conviction 
Records as a Hiring Barrier (July 26, 2011), available at http://www.eeoc.gov/eeoc/meetings/7-26-ll/solomon.cfm 
(last accessed January 25, 2013) (citing DOJ Bureau of Justice Statistics data that over 92 million people have a 
criminal history on file in state criminal history repositories and comparing that to Census data on the number of 
adults in the U.S.); see also Robert Brame, Michael G. Turner, Raymond Paternoster & Shawn D. Bushway, 
"Cumulative Prevalence of Arrest from Ages 8 to 23 in a National Sample," 129 Pediatrics 21-27 (Jan. 1, 20132), 
abstract available at http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/12911/21.abstract (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
2 Lauren E. Glaze, Co"ectional Populations in the United States, 2010, NCJ 236319 (Bureau of Justice Statistics 
Dec. 2011), available at ht ://www.b·s. ov/content/ ub/ df/c us !O. df (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
3 Paul Guerino, Paige M. Harrison & William J. Sabol, Prisoners in 2010, NCJ 236096 (Bureau of Justice Statistics 
Dec. 2011 ), available at http:/ lbjs.ojp. usdoj. go v/content/pub/pdf/p I 0. pdf (last accessed January 25, 20 13 ). 
4 Todd D. Minton, Jail Inmates at Midyear 2010 - Statistical, NCJ 233431 (Bureau of Justice Statistics April 
2011), available at http://bjs.ojp.usdoj.gov/content/pub/pdf/ jim10st.pdf (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
5 The Pew Center on the States, One in 100: Behind Bars in America 2008 at 6 (2008), available at 
http://www. ~wtrusts.orgluploadedFiles/wwwpewtrustsorg/Reports/sentencing_and corrections/one in 1 OO.pdf 
(last accessed January 25, 2013). 
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correctional control (i.e., probation, parole, or incarceration), including one in 45 white 
adults, one in 27 Hispanic adults and one in 11 African American adults.6 Racial and ethnic 
disparities may also be reflected in other criminal history records. For example, although 
African Americans constitute approximately 13 percent of the overall population/ they 
account for 28 percent of those arrested8 and almost 40 percent of the incarcerated 
population.9 

In light of these racial and ethnic disparities, contractors should be mindful of federal 
antidiscrimination laws if they choose to rely on job applicants' criminal history records for 
purposes of employment decisions. Hiring policies and practices that exclude workers with 
criminal records may run afoul of such laws, which prohibit intentional discrimination on the 
basis of race, national origin, or other protected bases, and policies or practices that have a 
disparate impact on these protected groups and cannot be justified as job related and 
consistent with business necessity. Policies that exclude people from employment based on 
the mere existence of a criminal history record and that do not take into account the age and 
nature of an offense, for example, are likely to unjustifiably restrict the employment 
opportunities of individuals with conviction histories. Due to racial and ethnic disparities in 
the criminal justice system, such policies are likely to violate federal antidiscrimination law. 
Accordingly, contractors should carefully consider their legal obligations before adopting 
such policies. 

5. POLICY: 

a. EEOC Enforcement Guidance. The EEOC, as the federal agency that administers and 
enforces Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq.:., issued 
guidance10 on the use of arrest and conviction records in employment decisions. This 
guidance consolidates and updates EEOC's prior guidance regarding the use of criminal 
records in employment decisions. EEOC is the lead agency for interpreting Title VII, and 
OFCCP follows Title VII principles in interpreting Executive Order 11246, as amended. 
Therefore, EEOC's guidance will assist contractors in implementing and reviewing their 

6 The Pew Center on the States, One in 31: The Long Reach of American Corrections at 5, 7 (2009), available at 
http://www.pewstates.org/uploadedFilesiPCS_Assets/2009/PSPP l in31 report FINAL WEB 3-26-09.pdf (last 
accessed January 25, 2013). 
7 U.S. Census Bureau, USA QuickFacts 2010, available at http://guickfacts.census.gov/gfd/states/OOOOO.html (last 
accessed January 25, 2013). 
8 FBI Uniform Crime Reports 2010, available at http://www.tbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2010/crime­
in-the-u.s.-2010/tables/table-43 (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
9 William J. Sabol, Todd D. Minton, & Paige M. Harrison, Prison and Jail Inmates at Midyear 2006, NCJ 217675 
(Bureau of Justice Statistics June 2007), available at htt :lib· s.o · .usdo ·. ov/content/ ub/ df/ · im06. f (last 
accessed January 25, 2013). These racial disparities in the criminal justice system have been attributed primarily to 
disparate law enforcement practices and sentencing policies. See, e.g., Mark Mauer, Justice for All? Challenging 
Racial Disparities in the Criminal Justice System, 37 Human Rights 4 (A.B.A. Sec. Individual Rights & 
Responsibilities Fall 2010), available at 
http://www.americanbar.orglpublicationslhuman rights magazine home/human rights vol37 20 l O/fall20 I 0/justice 

for_all challenging_racial disparities criminal justice system.html (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
10 Enforcement Guidance: Consideration of Arrest and Conviction Records in Employment Decisions Under Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (April25, 2012), 
bt1p://www.eeoc.gov/laws/guidance/upload/arrest conviction. pdf (last accessed January 25, 2013) (Enforcement 
Guidance). 
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employment practices in compliance with the Executive Order. EEOC's guidance 
applies to all employers that have 15 or more employees. 

As described in the Enforcement Guidance, the nondiscrimination principles of Title VII 
prohibit both "disparate treatment" - intentionally treating members of protected groups 
differently based on their protected status- and "disparate impact" - the use of policies 
or practices that are neutral on their face, but have a disproportionate impact on members 
of protected groups, and are not job-related and consistent with business necessity. 
Although individuals with criminal history records are not a protected group under the 
applicable federal laws, antidiscrimination laws may be implicated when criminal records 
are being considered. For example, studies have shown that employers may treat whites 
with a criminal record more favorably than similarly-situated African Americans with the 
same or similar criminal record, which would be a form of disparate treatment. 11 

Additionally, OFCCP is aware of job announcements that categorically exclude people 
who have any kind of conviction or arrest and of contractors that screen out job seekers 
with criminal records by stating that they will only accept applicants with so-called 
"clean" criminal records. 12 Due to racial and ethnic disparities reflected in the criminal 
justice system, these policies or practices will likely have a disparate impact on certain 
protected groups, in violation offederallaw. 13 

The following description, provided in a notice attached to the TEGL, explains these 
concepts further: 

"EEOC Information on Employer Consideration of Arrest and Conviction 
History 
"Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 makes it unlawful to discriminate in 
employment based on race, color, national origin, religion, or sex. This law does 
not prohibit an employer from requiring applicants to provide information about 
arrests, convictions or incarceration. But, employers may not treat people with 
the same criminal records differently because of their race, national origin or 
another protected characteristic. In addition, unless required by federal law or 
regulation, employers may not automatically bar everyone with an arrest or 
conviction record from employment. This is because an automatic bar to hiring 
everyone with a criminal record is likely to unjustifiably limit the employment 
opportunities of applicants or workers of certain racial or ethnic groups. 

11 See 42 U.S.C. 2000e-2(a); Devah Pager, The Mark of a Criminal Record, 108 American Journal of Sociology 937, 
957-60 (March 2003), available at http://www.princeton.edu/- pager/pager ajs.pdf (last accessed January 25, 2013) 
See generally Devah Pager & Bruce Western, Race at Work: The Realities of Race and Criminal Record in the NYC 
Job Market (NYC Commission on Human Rights 2005), available at 
http://www.nyc.gov/html/cchr/pdf/race report web. pdf (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
11 Examples of such job announcements that were recently found posted in One Stop Job Banks included the 
following criminal record exclusions: "No criminal background"; "Have no criminal history"; "CLEAN criminal 
background (NO felonies or misdemeanors)." 
13 See 42 U.S.C. 2000e-2(k)(l)(A)(i). 
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"If an employer's criminal record exclusion policy or practice has a disparate 
impact on Title VII-protected individuals, it must be job-related and consistent 
with business necessity .... 

"Since an arrest alone does not necessarily mean that someone has committed a 
crime, an employer should not assume that someone who has been arrested, but 
not convicted, did in fact commit the offense. Instead, the employer should allow 
the person to explain the circumstances of the arrest to determine whether the 
conduct underlying the arrest justifies an adverse employment action... For more 
information: http://www.eeoc.gov/laws/guidance/arrest conviction.cfin; 
http://www .eeoc.govllaws/guidance/ga arrest conviction.cfm; 
http://www .nationalreentrvresourcecenter .org!documents/0000/1 082/Reentry Co 
uncil Mythbuster Employment.pdf." 

The EEOC explains in its Enforcement Guidance (page 14) that "[t]o establish that a 
criminal conduct exclusion that has an adverse impact is job related and consistent with 
business necessity under Title VII, the employer needs to show that the policy operates to 
effectively link specific criminal conduct, and its dangers, with the risks inherent in the 
duties of a particular position." The Guidance describes two circumstances in which the 
Commission believes employers will consistently meet the "job related and consistent 
with business necessity" defense. First is when the employer validates the criminal 
conduct exclusion for the position in question in accordance with the Uniform Guidelines 
on Employee Selection Procedures (UGESP). Second, where validation in accordance 
with UGESP is not done, the EEOC discusses three factors that provide the starting point 
for analyzing how specific criminal conduct may be linked to particular positions.14 

The EEOC explains in its Enforcement Guidance (pages 15-16) the three factors that are 
relevant to whether a criminal conduct exclusion is ''job related and consistent with 
business necessity" as follows: 

1. "The Nature and Gravity of the Offense or Conduct - Careful consideration of 
the nature and gravity of the offense or conduct is the first step in determining 
whether a specific crime may be relevant to concerns about risks in a particular 
position. The nature of the offense or conduct may be assessed with reference 
to the harm caused by the crime (e.g., theft causes property loss). The legal 
elements of a crime also may be instructive. For example, a conviction for 
felony theft may involve deception, threat, or intimidation [citation omitted]. 
With respect to the gravity of the crime, offenses identified as misdemeanors 
may be less severe than those identified as felonies. 

u. "The Time That Has Passed Since the Offense, Conduct and/or Completion of 
the Sentence - Employer policies typically specify the duration of criminal 
conduct exclusion. The amount of time that has passed since [an employee's or 
prospective employee's] criminal conduct occurred [is] probative ofthe risk he 

14 The EEOC describes these factors as the "Green factors." See Green v. Mo. Pac. R.R, 549 F.2d 1158, 1160 (8th 
Cir. 1977) (approving employer's use of these factors in making hiring decisions). 
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pose[ s] in the position in question. Whether the duration of an exclusion will 
be sufficiently tailored to satisfy the business necessity standard will depend on 
the particular facts and circumstances of each case. Relevant and available 
information to make this assessment includes, for example, studies 
demonstrating how much the risk of recidivism declines over a specified 
time. 15 

111. "The Nature of the Job Held or Sought- [I]t is important to identify the 
particular job(s) subject to the exclusion. While a factual inquiry may begin 
with identifying the job title, it also encompasses the nature of the job's duties 
(e.g., data entry, lifting boxes), identification of the job's essential functions, 
the circumstances under which the job is performed (e.g., the level of 
supervision, oversight, and interaction with co-workers or vulnerable 
individuals), and the environment in which the job's duties are performed (e.g., 
out of doors, in a warehouse, in a private home). Linking the criminal conduct 
to the essential functions of the position in question may assist an employer in 
demonstrating that its policy or practice is job related and consistent with 
business necessity because it 'bear[ s] a demonstrable relationship to successful 
performance of the jobs for which it was used"' [citation omitted]. 

b. Best Practices. The EEOC Enforcement Guidance recommends a number of ''best 
practices" for employers to avoid liability for discrimination based on the use of 
criminal records in employment. We commend these best practices to contractors. In 
particular, contractors may consider ensuring that any policies and procedures that 
screen applicants and employees for criminal conduct require an individualized 
assessment. Such policies and procedures should be narrowly tailored to the essential 
job requirements and actual circumstances under which the jobs are performed; to the 
specific offenses that may demonstrate unfitness for performing such jobs; and to the 
appropriate duration of exclusions for criminal conduct, based on all available 
evidence. Like the EEOC, OFCCP recommends that contractors, as a general rule, 
refrain from inquiring about convictions onjob applications. 16 Further, OFCCP 

15 See, e.g., Keith Soothill & Brian Francis, When Do Ex-Offenders Become Like Non-Offenders?, 48 HowARD J. 
OFCRIM. JUST. 373,380-81 (2009) (examining conviction data from Britain and Wales, a 2009 study found that 
the risk of recidivism declined for the groups with prior records and eventually converged within 10 to 15 years 
with the risk of those of the nonoffending comparison groups); Alfred Blumstein & Kiminori Nakamura, 
Redemption in the Presence of Widespread Criminal Background Checks, 47 CRIMINOLOGY 327 (2009) 
(concluding that there may be a "point of redemption" (i.e., a point in time where an individual's risk of re­
offending or re-arrest is reasonably comparable to individuals with no prior criminal record) for individuals 
arrested for certain offenses if they remain crime free for a certain number of years); Megan C. Kurlychek, Robert 
Brame & Shawn D. Bushway, Enduring Risk? Old Criminal Records and Predictions of Future Criminal 
Involvement, 53 CRIME & DELINQUENCY 64 (2007) (analyzing juvenile police contacts and Racine, Wisconsin 
police contacts for an aggregate of crimes for 670 males born in 1942 and concluding that, after seven years, the 
risk of a new offense approximates that of a person without a criminal record); Megan C. Kurlychek et al., Scarlet 
Letters and Recidivism: Does an Old Criminal Record Predict Future Offending?, 5 CRIMINOLOGY & PuB. POL'Y 
483 (2006) (evaluating juvenile police contacts and arrest dates from Philadelphia police records for an aggregate 
of crimes for individuals born in 1958, a 2006 study concluded that the risk of recidivism decreases over time and 
that, six or seven years after an arrest, an individual's risk of re-arrest approximates that of an individual who has 
never been arrested). 
16 Many contractors are prohibited from inquiring about convictions or arrests on job applications by local law. See 
National Employment Law Project, Ban the Box: Major U.S. Cities and Counties Adopt Fair Hiring Policies to 
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recommends, if and when contractors make such inquiries, the inquiries are limited to 
convictions for which exclusion would be job-related for the position in question and 
consistent with business necessity. Finally, information about applicants' and 
employees' criminal records should be kept confidential and only used for the purpose 
for which it was intended. 

c. New Procedures Affecting Contractors that Utilize the Federally-Assisted Workforce 
System. On May 25,2012, ETA, in conjunction with CRC, issued TEGL 31-11 about 
the relevance of exclusions based on criminal records to the existing nondiscrimination 
obligations of public workforce system entities. 17 The TEGL, available at 
http://wdr.doleta.gov/directives/corr doc.cfin?DOCN=9230, advises these covered 
entities to conduct their activities using safeguards to prevent discrimination and promote 
employment opportunities for formerly-incarcerated individuals and other individuals 
with criminal records. 

Contractors subject to the Vietnam Era Veterans' Readjustment Assistance Act of 1974 
(VEVRAA) are required to list all employment openings with "an appropriate local 
employment service office of the state employment security agency wherein the opening 
occurs" or "the appropriate employment service delivery system where the opening 
occurs". 18 Other contractors may also utilize such covered entities to list job openings, 
screen job-seekers, or receive referrals of qualified applicants. All contractors using 
covered entities, whether required by VEVRAA to do so or not, can expect that these 
entities will now follow the procedures, outlined in the TEGL and summarized below, 
regarding (a) posting of job announcements and (b) screening and referring applicants 
based on criminal record restrictions: 

1. Posting job announcements with American Job Centers. 
• When an employer (including contractors) registers with an American Job 

Center (or other covered entity) to use the Job Bank, the TEGL requires the 
covered entity to send the employer a prescribed notice (''Notice #1 for 
Employers Regarding Job Bank Nondiscrimination and Criminal Record 
Exclusions"19

) explaining that the covered entity must comply with federal 
civil rights laws which, due to the likely adverse impact of criminal record 
exclusions on protected groups, generally prohibit categorical exclusions of 
individuals based solely on an arrest or conviction history. 

• Covered entities will be required to use a system (automated or otherwise) 
for identifying vacancy announcements that include hiring restrictions 
based on arrest and/or conviction records. 

Remove Unfair Barriers to Employment of People with Criminal Records (Feb. 6, 2012), available at: 
nelp.3cdn.net/abddb6b65al4826f92 n5m6bz5bp.pdf (last accessed January 25, 2013). 
17 The "covered entities" to which the TEGL is addressed are the public workforce system and other entities that 
receive federal fmancial assistance to operate Job Banks; to help job seekers in locating and obtaining employment; 
and/or to assist employers by screening and referring qualified applicants. They include the American Job Centers, 
formerly known as One-Stop Career Centers. 
18 See 41 CFR §60-250.5(a)2 and §60-300.5(a)3. 
19 This and the other required notices are attachments to the TEGL. 
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• When covered entities identify job postings that exclude individuals based 
on arrest and/or conviction history, they must provide employers that have 
posted these vacancy announcements a notice (''Notice #2 for Employers 
Regarding Job Postings Containing Criminal Record Exclusions") that 
gives the employer the opportunity to remove or edit the vacancy 
announcement. 

Covered entities may continue to post vacancy announcements containing 
language excluding candidates based on criminal history only when 
accompanied by a notice to job seekers (''Notice #3 for Job Seekers to be 
Attached to Job Postings with Criminal Record Exclusions") explaining that 
the exclusions in the posting may have an adverse impact on protected groups 
and informing them that individuals with criminal history records are not 
prohibited from applying for the posted position. 

u. Screening and referral based on criminal record restrictions. 
• Covered entity staff should refrain from screening and refusing to make 

referrals because an applicant has a criminal history record. Job seekers 
who are referred for positions where the job posting takes criminal history 
into account are to be given a copy of Notice #3 For Job Seekers along with 
the job announcement. 

d. Other Relevant Laws. The Notices attached to the TEGL describe two other federal 
laws that might affect contractors' employment practices regarding the use of criminal 
records in making hiring decisions. As described in Notice #1 and Notice #2: 

1. "The Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) imposes a number of obligations on 
employers that wish to use criminal background checks to screen applicants. This 
law requires the employer to obtain the applicant's permission before asking a 
background screening company for a criminal history report, and requires the 
employer to provide the applicant with a copy of the report and a summary of the 
applicant's rights before the employer takes an adverse action (such as denying an 
application for employment) based on information in the criminal history report. 
For more information: 
http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/edu/pubs/consumer/credit/cre36.shtm." 

u. "[T]he Work Opportunity Tax Credit (WOTC) and the Federal Bonding Program 
(FBP) [are] two incentives to support employers' hiring of individuals with 
conviction histories. The WOTC provides a credit of 25-40% of first-year wages, 
or $1 ,500-$2,400, for employers that hire qualified individuals with felony 
convictions. For more information: http://www.doleta.gov/wotc. Through the 
FBP, funded and administered by the U.S. Department of Labor, fidelity 
insurance bonds are available to reimburse the employer for any loss due to 
employee theft of money or property, with no employer deductible. For more 
information: http://www.bonds4jobs.com/index.html." 
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The TEGL also includes an endnote (Endnote 1) regarding state and local restrictions 
on employer consideration of arrest and conviction records, as follows: 

"Many states and cities have enacted restrictions on employer consideration of 
arrest and conviction records. See, e.g., Cal. Lab. Code§ 432.7(a); N.Y. Correct. 
Law§§ 750-755; 18 Pa. Cons. Stat.§ 9125; City ofBoston Municipal Code 4-7. 
Covered entities should familiarize themselves with their state and local laws as 
well. The Department of Labor is aware of the following resources on state and 
local laws that may be helpful (though the Department cannot guarantee the 
accuracy of or otherwise endorse these resources): Margaret Colgate Love, Relief 
from the Collateral Consequences of a Criminal Conviction: A State-by-State 
Resource Guide (June 2008), available at: 
http://www.sentencingproject.org/detaillpublication.cfm?publication id= 115; 
Selection. com, State Laws and Their Impact on Use of Criminal Records for 
Employment Purposes, available at: 
www.selection.com/ pdfs/statelaw criminalchecks.pdf; National Employment 
Law Project, Ban the Box: Major US. Cities and Counties Adopt Fair Hiring 
Policies to Remove Unfair Barriers to Employment of People with Criminal 
Records (Feb. 6, 2012), available at: 
nelp.3cdn.net/abddb6b65a14826f'92 n5m6bz5bp.pdf." 

6. FILING INSTRUCTIONS: 

Holders of ADM and LEG Binders: File this ADM Notice under the "Other" tab in your 
Administrative Practices Binder. 

District and Area Offices EOSs and EOAs: File this ADM Notice behind the tab for 
administrative directives in your FCCM Binder. 

7. DISTRIBUTION: A, Band C electronically. 

8. EXPIRATION DATE: This directive remains in effect until it is revised or rescinded. 
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358 NLRB No. 106

NOTICE:  This opinion is subject to formal revision before publication in the 
bound  volumes of NLRB decisions.  Readers are requested to notify the 
Executive Secretary, National Labor Relations Board, Washington, D.C.  
20570, of any typographical or other formal errors so that corrections 
can be included in the bound volumes.

Costco Wholesale Corporation and United Food 
and Commercial Workers Union, Local 371. 
Case 34–CA–012421

September 7, 2012

DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN PEARCE AND MEMBERS GRIFFIN 

AND BLOCK

On August 11, 2010, Administrative Law Judge 
Steven Fish issued the attached decision.  The Respon-
dent filed exceptions and a supporting brief, the Acting 
General Counsel filed an answering brief, and the Re-
spondent filed a reply brief.  Additionally, the Acting 
General Counsel filed limited cross-exceptions and a 
supporting brief, and the Respondent filed an answer-
ing brief.1

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated 
its authority in this proceeding to a three-member 
panel. 

The Board has considered the decision and the re-
cord in light of the exceptions and briefs and has de-
cided to affirm the judge’s rulings, findings,2 and con-
clusions only to the extent consistent with this Deci-
sion and Order.3

I. INTRODUCTION

For the reasons stated by the judge, we adopt his 
findings that the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) 
of the Act by maintaining rules4 stating that: 

                                                          
1 The Respondent also filed a motion to reopen the record and/or 

for rehearing, and the Acting General Counsel filed an opposition to 
that motion.  In its motion, the Respondent seeks to introduce evi-
dence of revised rules that it issued in March 2010, after the close of 
the hearing.  The Respondent contends that this evidence is relevant 
to the remedy for any rules we find unlawful herein.  We deny the 
Respondent’s motion, as there has been no showing that the evi-
dence it seeks to introduce would require a different result, as re-
quired under Sec. 102.48(d)(1) of the Board’s Rules and Regula-
tions.  Our denial of the motion, however, is without prejudice to the 
Respondent’s ability to introduce any such evidence in the compli-
ance stage of this proceeding.

2 There are no exceptions to the judge’s dismissal of the allega-
tion that the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(1) of the Act by interro-
gating two employees.

3 We shall modify the judge’s recommended Order in accordance 
with our findings, and shall include the Board’s standard remedial 
language for the violations found.  We shall also modify the judge’s 
recommended Order to provide for the posting of the notice in ac-
cord with J. Picini Flooring, 356 NLRB No. 9 (2010).

4 In considering the lawfulness of the Respondent’s work rules, 
we do not rely on Crowne Plaza Hotel, 352 NLRB 382 (2009), a 
case issued by two Board Members and cited by the judge.  See New 
Process Steel, L.P. v. NLRB, 130 S.Ct. 2635 (2010); Hospital Pavia 
Perea, 355 NLRB 1300, 1300 fn. 2 (2010) (recognizing that two 
Board Members “lacked authority to issue an order”).

(a) “unauthorized posting, distribution, re-
moval or alteration of any material on Company 
property” is prohibited; 

(b) employees are prohibited from discussing 
“private matters of members and other employees
. . . includ[ing] topics such as, but not limited to, 
sick calls, leaves of absence, FMLA call-outs, 
ADA accommodations, workers’ compensation 
injuries, personal health information, etc.”; 

(c) “[s]ensitive information such as member-
ship, payroll, confidential financial, credit card 
numbers, social security number or employee per-
sonal health information may not be shared, 
transmitted, or stored for personal or public use 
without prior management approval”; and

(d) employees are prohibited from sharing 
“confidential” information such as employees’ 
names, addresses, telephone numbers, and email 
addresses.  

We also adopt, for the reasons stated in his decision,
the judge’s dismissal of the complaint allegation that 
the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) by maintain-
ing a rule requiring employees to use “appropriate 
business decorum” in communicating with others.  

Contrary to the judge, however, and as explained be-
low, we find that the Respondent violated Section 
8(a)(1) by maintaining a rule prohibiting employees 
from electronically posting statements that “damage 
the Company . . . or damage any person’s reputation.”  
Further, and also contrary to the judge, we find that the 
Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(1) by main-
taining a rule prohibiting employees from “[l]eaving 
Company premises during working shift without per-
mission of management.”   

II. RULE PROHIBITING STATEMENTS THAT DAMAGE THE 

COMPANY OR ANY PERSON’S REPUTATION

The judge found that the Respondent’s maintenance 
of the following rule, in section 11.9 of its employee 
handbook (Employee Agreement), did not violate Sec-
tion 8(a)(1):  

Any communication transmitted, stored or displayed 
electronically must comply with the policies outlined 
in the Costco Employee Agreement. Employees 
should be aware that statements posted electronically
(such as [to]online message boards or discussion 
groups) that damage the Company, defame any indi-
vidual or damage any person’s reputation, or violate 
the policies outlined in the Costco Employee 
Agreement, may be subject to discipline, up to and 
including termination of employment.

    In dismissing this allegation, the judge found that em-
ployees would not reasonably construe this rule as regu-
lating, and thereby inhibiting, Section 7 conduct.  Citing 
Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 646 

http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=0001417&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2005583989
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=0001417&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2005583989
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(2004), the judge instead found that employees would 
reasonably infer that the Respondent’s purpose in prom-
ulgating the rule was to ensure a “civil and decent work-
place.”  

Contrary to the judge, we find employees would rea-
sonably construe this rule as one that prohibits Section 
7 activity.

In determining whether the maintenance of a work 
rule violates Section 8(a)(1), the appropriate inquiry is 
whether the rule would reasonably tend to chill em-
ployees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. 
Lafayette Park Hotel, 326 NLRB 824, 825 (1998), 
enfd. 203 F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 1999). If the rule explic-
itly restricts Section 7 rights, it is unlawful. Lutheran 
Heritage Village-Livonia, supra. If it does not, “the 
violation is dependent upon a showing of one of the 
following: (1) employees would reasonably construe 
the language to prohibit Section 7 activity; (2) the rule 
was promulgated in response to union activity; or (3) 
the rule has been applied to restrict the exercise of Sec-
tion 7 rights.”  Id. at 647.

Here, the Respondent’s rule does not explicitly ref-
erence Section 7 activity.  However, by its terms, the 
broad prohibition against making statements that 
“damage the Company, defame any individual or dam-
age any person’s reputation” clearly encompasses con-
certed communications protesting the Respondent’s 
treatment of its employees.  Indeed, there is nothing in 
the rule that even arguably suggests that protected 
communications are excluded from the broad parame-
ters of the rule.  In these circumstances, employees 
would reasonably conclude that the rule requires them 
to refrain from engaging in certain protected commu-
nications (i.e., those that are critical of the Respondent 
or its agents).  See Southern Maryland Hospital, 293 
NLRB 1209, 1222 (1989), enfd. in relevant part 916 
F.2d 932, 940 (4th Cir. 1990) (rule prohibiting “de-
rogatory attacks on . . . hospital representative[s]”
found unlawful); Claremont Resort & Spa, 344 NLRB 
832 (2005) (rule prohibiting “negative conversations 
about associates and/or managers” found unlawful);
Beverly Health & Rehabilitation Services, 332 NLRB 
347, 348 (2000), enfd. 297 F.3d 468 (6th Cir. 2002)
(rule that prohibited “[m]aking false or misleading 
work-related statements concerning the company, the 
facility or fellow associates” found unlawful).  

The cases relied on by the judge are distinguishable.  
Most involved rules addressing conduct that is rea-
sonably associated with actions that fall outside the 
Act’s protection, such as conduct that is malicious, 
abusive, or unlawful.  See, for example, Lutheran 
Heritage Village-Livonia, supra, 343 NLRB at 647–
649 (rule addressing “verbal abuse,” “abusive or pro-
fane language,” and “harassment”); Palms Hotel & 
Casino, 344 NLRB 1363, 1367–1368 (2005) (rule ad-
dressing “conduct which is injurious, offensive, threat-

ening, intimidating, coercing, or interfering with” other 
employees).5

In Tradesmen International, 338 NLRB 460, 460-
463 (2002), also cited by the judge, the Board found 
lawful a rule that prohibited “statements which are 
slanderous or detrimental to the company or any of the 
company’s employees.”  We note however, that this 
rule was among a list of 19 rules which prohibited 
egregious conduct such as “sabotage and sexual or 
racial harassment.”  In finding that the maintenance of 
the rule did not violate Section 8(a)(1), the Board’s 
analysis followed the dictates of Lutheran Heritage, 
which require that the rule be considered in context.  
343 NLRB at 647 fn. 6. 

In contrast, the Respondent’s rule does not present 
accompanying language that would tend to restrict its 
application.  It therefore allows employees to reasona-
bly assume that it pertains to -- among other things --
certain protected concerted activities, such as commu-
nications that are critical of the Respondent’s treatment 
of its employees.  The Respondent’s maintenance of 
the rule thus has a reasonable tendency to inhibit em-
ployees’ protected activity and, as such, violates Sec-
tion 8(a)(1).6

III. RULE PROHIBITING EMPLOYEES 

FROM LEAVING PREMISES 

Section 11.3 of the Respondent’s handbook lists a 
number of actions that may lead to an employee’s im-
mediate discharge.  One such action is “[l]eaving 
Company premises during working shift without per-
mission of management.”  The judge found that the 
Respondent’s maintenance of this rule violated Section 
8(a)(1) because it “inhibits the employees’ rights to 
engage in Section 7 activity (i.e., strike).”  We dis-
agree.    

In 2 Sisters Food Group, 357 NLRB No. 168 
(2011), the Board held that the maintenance of a simi-
lar rule, prohibiting “[l]eaving a department or the 
                                                          

5 Other cases cited by the judge are similarly distinguishable, as 
they addressed conduct rather than merely addressing statements, or 
because they addressed the use of abusive, threatening or slanderous 
statements.  See Lafayette Park Hotel, supra, 326 NLRB at 825–826; 
Adtranz ABB Daimler Bentz v. NLRB, 253 F.3d 19, 25–28 (D.C. Cir. 
2001); Ark Las Vegas Restaurant Corp., 335 NLRB 1284, 1291–
1292 (2001), enfd. 334 F.3d 99 (D.C. Cir. 2003); Albertson’s, Inc., 
351 NLRB 254, 258-259 (2007).

6 Although no party argues its applicability, we note that this rule 
does not implicate the Board’s holding in Register Guard, 351 
NLRB 1110 (2007), enfd. in relevant part 571 F.3d 53 (D.C. Cir. 
2009).  The issue in Register Guard was whether employees had a 
statutory right to use their employer’s email system for Sec. 7 pur-
poses.  The Board found that the employer did not violate Sec. 
8(a)(1) by prohibiting the use of the employer’s email for “nonjob-
related solicitations.”  Here, the rule at issue does not prohibit using 
the electronic communications system for all non-job purposes, but 
rather is reasonably understood to prohibit the expression of certain 
protected viewpoints.  In doing so, the rule serves to inhibit certain 
kinds of Sec. 7 activity while permitting others and, for this reason, 
violates Sec. 8(a)(1).         

http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=0001417&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2005583989
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plant during a working shift without a supervisor’s 
permission,” did not violate Section 8(a)(1).  The 
Board found that this rule was not unlawful on its face 
and that employees would not reasonably construe it to 
prohibit Section 7 activity.7  The Board explained that 
the rule was distinguishable from a rule, found unlaw-
ful in Labor Ready, Inc., 331 NLRB 1656, 1656 fn. 2 
(2000), prohibiting employees from “walk[ing] off” 
the job.  The Board found that whereas a rule’s refer-
ence to a term similar to “walk out” (a synonym for a 
strike) would reasonably lead employees to believe 
that the rule prohibited a strike, the mere reference to 
leaving a department or plant would not be similarly 
construed as pertaining to Section 7 activity.  2 Sisters, 
supra, slip op. at 2–3.   

Here, the Respondent’s rule is similar to the rule 
found lawful in 2 Sisters, as it prohibits “[l]eaving 
Company premises during working shift without per-
mission,” and does not include a reference to any term 
that would reasonably be construed as similar to the 
term strike or “walk out.”  In these circumstances, the 
reference to leaving the premises during worktime 
would be reasonably understood as pertaining to em-
ployees leaving their posts (for reasons unrelated to 
concerted activity) without first seeking permission.  
Accordingly, there is no meaningful distinction be-
tween the Respondent’s rule and the rule in 2 Sisters.8  
Therefore, we shall dismiss this complaint allegation.9  

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Substitute the following for the judge’s Conclu-
sion of Law 3.

“3. The Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of 
the Act by maintaining rules in its “Employee Agree-
                                                          

7 The Board considered that rule together with a rule prohibiting 
employees from “stopping work before shift ends or taking unau-
thorized breaks.” Id.

8 Our dissenting colleague contends that the absence of references 
to other prohibitions, such as those found in the 2 Sisters handbook, 
makes it more likely that employees would understand that the rule 
restricts protected activity.  We disagree.  Because employees would 
not typically refer to a protected strike as “leaving the premises,” we 
find no basis to conclude that employees would reasonably construe 
the rule to prohibit Sec. 7 activity.    

9 Contrary to his colleagues, Chairman Pearce would adopt the 
judge’s finding that the Respondent’s rule violated Sec. 8(a)(1).  He 
agrees with the judge that employees would reasonably construe the 
reference to leaving the premises without management permission as 
a rule prohibiting employees from engaging in a protected strike.  In 
the Chairman’s view, the instant rule is distinguishable from the rule 
found lawful in 2 Sisters, supra.  In that case, the prohibition against 
leaving the plant was presented together with references to terms not 
typically used when referencing strike activity, specifically, leaving 
the department and taking unauthorized breaks.  By considering 
these prohibitions together, employees would not reasonably con-
strue them as encompassing strike activity.  Conversely, the instant 
rule broadly references leaving the “premises,” without any accom-
panying language of limitation.  In these circumstances, employees 
would reasonably read the rule as one that covers a concerted walk-
out or other strike activity and, as such, it would tend to inhibit em-
ployees from exercising their Sec. 7 right to engage in a strike. 

ment” that prohibit the unauthorized posting, distribu-
tion or alteration of any material on Company prop-
erty, that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting 
employees from discussing their wages and other 
terms and conditions of employment with other em-
ployees and third parties, including union representa-
tives, that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting 
employees from sharing or storing wage information 
or information relating to other terms and conditions of 
employment of employees without permission of man-
agement, that prohibit employees from posting mes-
sages that “damage any person’s reputation,” and that 
prohibit the removal of confidential material from 
Company premises, which Respondent has defined as 
conduct that may reasonably be interpreted as includ-
ing wages and other terms and conditions of employ-
ment of its employees.”

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the 
Respondent, Costco Wholesale Corporation, Milford, 
Connecticut, its officers, agents, successors, and as-
signs, shall

1. Cease and desist from
(a) Maintaining provisions in its Employee Agree-

ment that prohibit the unauthorized posting, distribu-
tion, or alteration of any material on company prop-
erty.

(b) Maintaining provisions in its Employee Agree-
ment that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting 
employees from discussing their wages and conditions 
of employment with other employees and third parties, 
including union representatives.

(c) Maintaining provisions in its Employee Agree-
ment that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting 
its employees from sharing or storing wage informa-
tion or information relating to other terms and condi-
tions of employment of employees without permission 
of management.

(d) Maintaining provisions in its Employee Agree-
ment that prohibit employees from electronically post-
ing statements that damage any person’s reputation.

(e) Maintaining provisions in its Employee Agree-
ment that prohibit the removal of confidential material 
from company premises, which the Respondent has 
defined as conduct that may reasonably be interpreted 
as including wages or other terms and conditions of 
employment of its employees.

(f) In any like or related manner, interfering with, 
restraining or coercing employees in the exercise of 
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative actions necessary 
to effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Rescind or modify the language in the following 
provisions of its Employee Agreement.

1. Sections 11.3.4 and 4(a) and 11.3.22.
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2. Section 11.7 to the extent that it defines the 
names, addresses, phone numbers and email ad-
dresses of employees as confidential and prohibits 
disclosure of such information to any third parties.

3. The portions of Section 11.7 that provide 
that “[a]ll Costco employees shall refrain from 
discussing private matters of other employees. 
This includes topics such as, but not limited to 
sick calls, leaves of absence, FMLA call outs, 
ADA accommodations, workers’ comp. injuries    
. . . etc.”

4. Section 11.9 to the extent that it prohibits 
employees from making statements that damage 
the Company or damage any person’s reputation.

5. Section 11.9 to the extent that it provides 
that all information relating to Costco’s employees 
must not be disseminated, that payroll information 
may not be shared or transmitted and unauthorized 
removal of confidential material (as defined over
broadly by the Respondent in its Employee 
Agreement) from Company premises is prohib-
ited.

(b) Furnish all current employees with inserts for the 
current Employee Agreement that 

1. advise that the unlawful provisions have 
been   rescinded, or 

2. provide the language of lawful provisions or 
publish and distribute revised Employee Agree-
ments that

a. do not contain the unlawful provisions, or 
b. provide the language of lawful provisions.

(c) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post 
at each of its facilities in the United States, where its 
Employee Agreement is in effect, copies of the at-
tached notice, in English and Spanish, marked “Ap-
pendix.”10  Copies of the notice, on forms provided by 
the Regional Director for Region 34, after being signed 
by the Respondent's authorized representative, shall be 
posted by the Respondent and maintained for 60 con-
secutive days in conspicuous places, including all 
places where notices to employees are customarily 
posted.  In addition to physical posting of paper no-
tices, notices shall be distributed electronically, such as 
by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, 
and/or other electronic means, if the Respondent cus-
tomarily communicates with its employees by such 
means.  Reasonable steps shall be taken by the Re-
spondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material. If the Re-
spondent has gone out of business or closed the facility 
                                                          

10 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court 
of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a 
Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order 
of the National Labor Relations Board.”

involved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall 
duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the 
notice to all current employees and former employees 
employed by the Respondent at any time since May 3, 
2009.

(d) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file 
with the Regional Director for Region 34 a sworn cer-
tification of a responsible official on a form provided 
by the Region attesting to the steps that the Respon-
dent has taken to comply.

   Dated, Washington, D.C.  September 7, 2012

Mark Gaston Pearce,                     Chairman

Richard F. Griffin, Jr.,                      Member

Sharon Block,                                   Member

(SEAL)          NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we 
violated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and 
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on 

your behalf
Act together with other employees for your 

benefit and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected 

activities.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our Employee 
Agreement that prohibit the unauthorized posting, dis-
tribution or alteration of any material on company 
property.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our Employee 
Agreement that may reasonably be interpreted as pro-
hibiting you from discussing your wages and condi-
tions of employment with other employees and third 
parties, including union representatives.

WE WILL NOT  maintain provisions in our Employee 
Agreement that may reasonably be interpreted as pro-
hibiting you from sharing or storing wage information 
or information relating to other terms and conditions of 
employment of employees without permission of man-
agement.
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WE WILL NOT  maintain provisions in our Employee 
Agreement that prohibit you from electronically post-
ing statements that damage any person’s reputation.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our Employee 
Agreement that prohibit the removal of confidential 
material from Company premises, which we have de-
fined as conduct that may reasonably be interpreted as 
including your wages or other terms and conditions of 
employment.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere 
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the 
rights listed above.

WE WILL rescind or modify the language in the fol-
lowing provisions of our Employee Agreement.

1. Sections 11.3.4 and 4(a) and 11.3.22.
2. Section 11.7 to the extent that it defines your

names, addresses, phone numbers and email ad-
dresses as confidential and prohibits disclosure of 
such information to any third parties.

3. The portions of Section 11.7 that provide 
that “[a]ll Costco employees shall refrain from 
discussing private matters of other employees.  
This includes topics such as, but not limited to 
sick calls, leaves of absence, FMLA call outs, 
ADA accommodations, workers’ comp. injuries   
. . . etc.”

4. Section 11.9 to the extent that it prohibits 
you from making statements that damage the 
Company or damage any person’s reputation.

5. Section 11.9 to the extent that it provides 
that all information relating to Costco’s employees 
must not be disseminated, that payroll information 
may not be shared or transmitted and unauthorized 
removal of confidential material (as defined over-
broadly by the Respondent in its Employee 
Agreement) from Company premises is prohib-
ited.

WE WILL furnish all of you with inserts for the cur-
rent Employee Agreement that 

1. advise that the unlawful provisions, above, have 
been rescinded, or 

2. provide the language of lawful provisions or pub-
lish and distribute revised Employee Agreements 
that 

a. do not contain the unlawful provisions, or 
b. provide the language of lawful provisions.

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORPORATION

Rick Concepcion, Esq., for the General Counsel.
Paul Galligan, Esq. (Seyfarth Shaw LLP), of New York, 

New York, for the Respondent.

DECISION

STEVEN FISH, Administrative Law Judge.  Pursuant to 
charges and amended charges filed by United Food and 
Commercial Workers, Local 371 (the Union), the Regional 
Director for Region 34 issued a complaint and notice of hear-
ing on November 30, 2009,1 alleging that Costco Wholesale 
Corporation (Respondent or Costco), violated Section 8(a)(1) 
of the Act.

On March 4, 2010, a hearing was held before me in Hart-
ford, Connecticut, with respect to the allegations in said 
complaint. At the hearing, the General Counsel amended the 
complaint by withdrawing an 8(a)(1) interrogation allegation 
concerning Manager Jeff Dawson and added on allegation 
that Respondent violated the Act by maintaining Rule 
11.3.24 in its employee agreement. Briefs have been filed 
and have been carefully considered.2

Based upon the entire record, including my observation of 
the demeanor of the witnesses, I make the following

FINDINGS OF FACT

I.  JURISDICTION AND LABOR ORGANIZATION

Respondent is a Washington State corporation engaged in 
the retail operation of wholesale club stores at various facili-
ties throughout the United States, including a facility in Mil-
ford, Connecticut, herein called the Milford facility.

During the 12-month period ending November 30, 2009, 
Respondent derived gross revenues in excess of $500,000 
and purchased and received goods valued in excess of 
$50,000 at its Milford warehouse directly from points located 
outside the State of Connecticut.

It is admitted, and I so find, that Respondent is and has 
been an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning 
of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

It is also admitted, and I so find, that the Union is a labor 
organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II.  FACTS

A. Background

Respondent’s facility in Milford, Connecticut, is a ware-
house employing various employees, including a meat de-
partment consisting of eight employees. Jeff Dawson was 
the general warehouse manager, who was in charge of the 
facility. Reporting to Dawson was Jim Mager, assistant gen-
eral warehouse manager, who was responsible for overseeing 
the meat, bakery, and deli departments. Dave Simpson, the 
meat department manager, reported to Mager, as well as to 
Dawson. Mager, in the course of his duties, visits the meat 
department four to five times a day to “check and make sure 
everything is going all right back there, running smoothly.”
During these visits, Mager will speak with Simpson and/or 
the employees about various work related issues.

B. The Alleged Interrogation

The Union began a campaign to organize the meat de-
partment employees at Respondent’s Milford warehouse in 
June or July. A petition was filed by the Union to represent 
such employees on August 4. There is little dispute that the 
                                                          

1 All dates hereinafter referred are in 2009, unless otherwise indi-
cated.

2 Respondent also filed a supplemental brief, without objection 
from the General Counsel, which has also been considered.
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chief union supporter was Anthony Chiepello, who openly 
expressed his union support in the presence of Simpson.

Eddie Ramirez, a meat cutter, testified that on either Mon-
day, July 27, or Monday, August 3, he attended a union 
meeting at the Stonebridge Restaurant.3

Ramirez also testified that he signed a union authorization 
card at that meeting,4 and that on the day after the meeting, 
August 4, he had a conversation with Mager about the meet-
ing and the cards. According to Ramirez, in the early after-
noon, he observed Mager speaking with Simpson. Ramirez 
could not hear what they were saying to each other. About 5
minutes later, Ramirez asserts that Mager entered the meat 
room, and addressed Ramirez and Jack Voss, another meat 
cutter. Ramirez contends that Mager said, “Oh, I hear that 
you guys are trying to get the union in the meat room.” Voss 
then allegedly answered, “Yeah, we’ve been talking about 
it.” Ramirez then asserts that Mager said to him, “Oh, Eddy, 
I hear that you signed a paper for the union.”  Ramirez 
claims that he responded, “Yeah, I signed the paper because I 
think we need a little security back here and signing such a 
paper is not illegal.”  Mager then allegedly replied, “Do you 
know that the union only takes your money; they don’t do 
anything for you.”

Ramirez also testified that on the day after the alleged 
conversation, Mager again entered the meat room. One of 
the packages of sausage was upside down in the case. Mager 
started to fix it but then stopped, and said to Ramirez, “Oh, 
Eddy, I can’t touch this because the union won’t let me. The 
union won’t let me straighten this out.” Ramirez himself 
straightened out the package, and Mager then walked away.

On cross-examination, at one point, Ramirez testified that 
employees, including Chiepello did not talk openly about the 
Union in the meat department. However, at another point, 
Ramirez testified that he and other employees did discuss the 
Union in front of Simpson. More specifically, Ramirez testi-
fied in regard to Simpson and union discussions by employ-
ees as follows: “Oh, yes, he knew about it. Yeah, we used to 
talk about it in the bench there.”

At another time in his testimony, Ramirez testified that on 
the day that Mager allegedly spoke to him and Voss about 
the Union and the signing of cards, Simpson heard Ramirez 
and Voss discussing the Union, and then had a conversation 
with Mager, 5 minutes before Mager allegedly spoke to the 
employees.

Upon further questioning by the undersigned, Ramirez as-
serted that he and Chiepello were discussing the Union when 
Simpson allegedly walked by and possibly overheard the 
employees’ discussion about the Union.5

Ramirez was also, as noted, uncertain about the date of the 
alleged conversation. In his affidavit taken on August 17, 
Ramirez asserted that the conversation took place about a 
month ago. The complaint alleges that the incident occurred 
in “late July.” In his testimony, Ramirez admitted that the 
affidavit must be wrong about the date but he was sure that it 
was a day after the Union meeting. He further testified that 
                                                          

3 Although Ramirez was uncertain about the date of the meeting, 
other record evidence indicates, and I find, that the date was August 
3.

4 The authorization card was not introduced into the record.
5 I note that this was the first time, and the only time, Ramirez 

mentioned that Chiepello was present at the time of Mager’s alleged 
questioning.

the conversation was on the same day as the incident where 
Respondent alleged that Chiepello and Ramirez “trashed” the 
meat room, which ultimately led to their suspensions and 
discharges.6

Mager testified that sometime in June, Simpson informed 
him that there was some union activity in the meat depart-
ment, and that some employees in the department were try-
ing to form a union.7  Mager further testified that this infor-
mation was not a concern to him because if a union came in 
“we’d just be business as usual.” He denied making any 
efforts to determine who was organizing the union or who 
was signing cards because “it wasn’t a concern of mine.”
Mager denied asking Ramirez or any employee whether they 
had signed union cards. Mager also denied making the 
comments attributed to him by Ramirez. (“I hear that you 
want the Union in here” or “I hear you signed a paper for the 
Union.”)

Mager did admit that he had one conversation with em-
ployees concerning the Union in early July. According to 
Mager, at that time, he walked into the meat room and heard 
Chiepello talking to Ramirez and employee Mark Lindquist, 
and Chiepello said that when a union comes in here, he 
won’t have to work nights. Mager asserts that he com-
mented, “You know you’re working for a good place here, 
you know, if you get the union in, that’s fine, in my opinion 
it’s just the union taking money out of your check and you’re 
working for a good organization here.” According to Mager, 
this was the only conversation that he ever had with any 
employee concerning the Union.

On cross-examination, Mager admitted that he had con-
versations with Ramirez on August 4, as he does every day, 
but could not recall what he said to Ramirez on that day. 
Mager also testified that neither Ramirez nor Lindquist made 
any comments during the July conversation, discussed above, 
and that he did not know anything about Ramirez’s position 
on the Union. Mager also testified that he was unaware of 
any conversations between Simpson and Ramirez regarding 
the Union. Finally, Mager also denied telling Ramirez (as 
Ramirez testified) that he (Mager) couldn’t touch meat be-
cause union rules wouldn’t allow it or any type of conversa-
tion along these lines.

Jack Voss was called as a witness by Respondent. Voss is 
still employed by Respondent and is still under the supervi-
sion of Mager and Simpson. According to Voss, Chiepello 
was the primary employee attempting to bring in the Union, 
but that Ramirez “worked together” with Chiepello in orga-
nizing union meetings and talking to employees about bring-
ing the union into the meat department. Voss added that 
Chiepello and Ramirez did not try to hide the organizing 
from anyone and that it “was all out in the open.”

Voss was asked about Ramirez’s testimony that in Voss’
presence, Mager told Ramirez “I hear you signed a paper for 
the Union” or any words to that effect. Voss testified, “No, 
not that I am aware of. That wasn’t said in front of me.”

On cross-examination, Voss admitted that he was not in 
favor of the Union, and he had neither signed a card nor at-

                                                          
6 The Union’s charges alleged that the suspensions and discharges 

were in violation of the Act.  The Region disagreed, apparently 
concluding that the discharges were caused by the conduct of the 
employees in connection with damage to the meat in the meat room.

7 Mager did not testify whether Simpson informed him of which 
employees were involved in trying to bring in a union.
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tended any union meetings. Further, on the last union meet-
ing, presumably on August 4, he saw a text message an-
nouncing the union meeting, inviting everyone to attend 
except for the “two scabs,” Voss and another employee. 
Further, Voss admitted that both Ramirez and Chiepello 
made derogatory comments about Voss.

Voss was also asked on cross-examination about his tes-
timony that everyone in the meat room talked openly about 
the union in the presence of management. Voss continued to 
insist that both Chiepello and Ramirez spoke about the Union 
in the presence of Simpson. However, his affidavit states 
only that he recalled one time that Chiepello spoke about the 
Union in Simpson’s presence, and that the affidavit made no 
mention of whether Voss had observed Ramirez discussing 
the Union in the presence of Simpson or any other manage-
ment representative.

Voss also testified that he spoke with both Simpson and 
Mager about the Union in July and August. In each of these 
discussions, Voss initiated the conversations and informed 
both Simpson and Mager that he (Voss) was not interested in 
the Union and/or that he didn’t sign any papers for the Un-
ion. Neither Simpson nor Mager made any response to 
Voss’s comments other than “Ok, it’s your decision.”

C. The Allegedly Unlawful Rules

1. The employee handbook

Respondent maintains a nationwide employee agreement 
entitled “Costco’s Employee Agreement,” which sets forth 
terms and conditions of employment at all its nationwide 
facilities, including its Milford facility, but not at its facilities 
where the employees are represented by a union and where a 
union contract is in effect.8

The employee agreement, hereinafter referred to as the 
agreement, provides for an “open door policy,” which en-
courages employees “access to ascending levels of manage-
ment to resolve issues.” The agreement is also a comprehen-
sive document that spells out all the terms and conditions of 
employment for all Costco employees, including rights under 
various Federal statutes, holidays, vacations, breaks, meal 
periods, paid sick leave, leave of absence, scheduling, trans-
fers, and promotions.

Section 5 of the agreement is entitled “How do I get paid? 
Compensation and Payroll.”  It then references “see tab in 
back for specific wages.”9  Section 5 then defines the work-
week, scheduling, travel, supplemental pay, premium pay, 
overtime, double time, breaks, and meal periods.

The complaint alleges and the General Counsel contends 
that several sections of the agreement are unlawful. Section 
11.3 is entitled “Causes for Termination,” which lists actions 
that can result in immediate termination. Three of these 
“causes” are alleged to be unlawful.

4. Unauthorized collection, disclosure or misuse of confi-
dential information relating to Costco, its members, em-
ployees, suppliers or agents including, but not limited to:

                                                          
8 Respondent’s counsel modified the above stipulation at the hear-

ing by stating that in some of Respondent’s unionized facilities, parts 
of the employee agreement are in effect, where they do not conflict 
with union contracts in existence.

9 This apparently refers to sec. 10 entitled “How much am I 
paid?,” which includes wage rates for all titles and classifications.

a. Unauthorized removal of confidential information from 
Company premises.

22. Unauthorized posting, distribution, removal, or altera-
tion of any material on Company property.

24. Leaving Company premises during working shift 
without permission of management.

Section 11.7 is entitled “Privacy Policy.” Portions of this 
section alleged to be unlawful reads as follows:

Costco respects our members’ and employees right to pri-
vacy, and it is up to each employee to take every precaution 
to make sure we respect this right.

 In the course of our business, we collect 
from our members and employees a substantial 
amount of personal information (such as name, ad-
dress, phone number, e-mail address, social secu-
rity number, membership numbers and credit card 
numbers). All of this information must be held 
strictly confidential and cannot be disclosed to any 
third party for any reason, unless (1) we have the 
person’s prior consent or (2) a special exception is 
allowed that has been approved by the legal de-
partment.

All Costco employees shall refrain from discussing private 
matters of member and other employees. This includes 
topics such as, but not limited to, sick calls, leaves of ab-
sence, FMLA call outs, ADA accommodations, workers’
comp injuries, personal health information, etc.

Section 11.9 is entitled “Electronic Communications and 
Technology Policy.” The portions of this section alleged to 
be unlawful are as follows:

Costco recognizes the benefits associated with electronic 
communications for business use. All employees are re-
sponsible for communicating with appropriate business de-
corum whether by means of e-mail, the Internet, hard-copy, 
in conversation, or using other technology or electronic 
means. Misuse or excessive personal use of Costco tech-
nology or electronic communications is a violation of 
Company policy for which you may be disciplined, up to 
and including termination of employment. Your use of 
Costco technology and electronic communication systems 
represents your agreement with the following policies:

 Every employee is responsible for ensur-
ing that all information relating to Costco, its 
members, suppliers, employees, and operations is 
secure, kept in confidence, and not disseminated or 
misused.

 Any communication transmitted, stored 
or displayed electronically must comply with the 
policies outlined in the Costco Employee Agree-
ment. Employees should be aware that statements 
posted electronically (such as online message 
boards or discussion groups) that damage the 
Company, defame any individual or damage any 
person’s reputation, or violate the policies outlined 
in the Costco Employee Agreement, may be sub-
ject to discipline, up to and including termination 
of employment.
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 Sensitive information such as member-
ship, payroll, confidential financial, credit card 
numbers, social security numbers, or employee 
personal health information may not be shared, 
transmitted, or stored for personal or public use 
without prior management approval. Additionally, 
unauthorized removal of confidential material from 
Company premised is prohibited.

III.  ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS

A. The Alleged Interrogation

The General Counsel asserts, consistent with the com-
plaint’s allegation, that Respondent unlawfully interrogated 
its employees by Mager’s alleged comment to Ramirez and 
Voss that he (Mager) said “I hear that you signed a paper for 
the Union.” Continental Bus System, 229 NLRB 1262, 
1264–1265 (1977) (“I heard that you (were) getting people 
signed-up for the union); Ready Mix Inc., 337 NLRB 1189, 
1190 (2002) (“I heard that you were passing out union 
cards”).

However, before assessing whether Mager’s alleged 
comments were coercive or unlawful, consistent with the 
above precedent, it is essential to resolve the significant 
credibility dispute between Mager and Ramirez as to whether 
or not Mager made the quoted comment to Ramirez.

I am not persuaded that the General Counsel has met its 
burden of proof that Mager made the statement to Ramirez, 
as Ramirez so testified.  In addition to comparative demeanor 
considerations, I rely on several other factors in coming to 
that conclusion. The principal factor that I have relied upon 
is the testimony of Voss, who did not corroborate Ramirez’s 
testimony, and in fact corroborated Mager’s testimony that 
the alleged statement by Mager, was testified to by Ramirez, 
was not made. I recognize, as argued by the General Coun-
sel that Voss, not a union supporter, is still employed by 
Respondent and is under the supervision of Mager. I have 
considered these factors, but, nonetheless, found Voss to be 
an impressive and credible witness. He is still in my view a 
“neutral” witness with no stake in the proceeding, and I be-
lieve that he was candid and believable in his testimony.

I also found Mager to be a more credible witness than 
Ramirez for several reasons. I found his testimony sincere 
and believable, that while he did find out about the fact that 
the meat department employees were trying to organize from 
Simpson, “it was not a concern” to him, and I find that it is 
not likely that he would ask Ramirez or any employee 
whether they signed union cards. I also rely on the fact that 
Mager was candid in his testimony that he had been told 
about the organizers in June by Simpson, as well as his ad-
mission that in July, after hearing Chiepello and Ramirez 
discussing the Union, he (Mager) told the employees that in 
his opinion the Union “just takes money out of you’re [sic]
check” and that the employees were working for a good or-
ganization here.” While the General Counsel does not, as he 
should not, allege that these comments are violative of the 
Act, these admissions could, in some circumstances, reflect 
negatively upon Respondent. Thus, I conclude that Mager’s 
candid admissions that he made such comments, and that he 
was told about the union organizing by another supervisor, 
reflects positively on his testimony in general and on his 
denial that he made the statement to Ramirez, as Ramirez 
testified.

I have also considered the General Counsel’s arguments 
that Mager and Voss should not be credited because their 
memory was hazy, as to precisely what conversations Mager 
had with Ramirez on August 4. I find little significance to 
these alleged “deficiencies” in the recollections of Mager and 
Voss. The evidence reveals that Mager and Ramirez have 
conversations every day, usually about work related matters. 
Thus, it is not surprising that they would not be able to recall 
precisely what was said in these conversations on August 4.
What is significant is that Mager and Voss were unequivocal 
and corroborative in stating that Mager did not say anything 
to Ramirez about signing cards or “papers” for the Union.10

I was, on the other hand, less impressed with Ramirez’s 
testimony. His testimony was uncertain as to the date of the 
alleged interrogation. This is important since Ramirez in-
sisted that the conversation took place the day after the union 
meeting and that at said meeting, he (Ramirez) allegedly 
signed a union card. However, the card, allegedly signed by 
Ramirez on August 3 (so argued by the General Counsel) 
was not introduced as evidence, which tends to shed some 
doubt on Ramirez’s testimony. Further, the comments that 
Mager allegedly made to Ramirez accompanying the alleged 
interrogation (i.e. Mager’s opinion that the Union only takes 
dues out of the employees’ salaries and that the employees 
were working for a good organization) were made by Mager 
to Ramirez (and two other employees) in July. This evidence 
suggests that Ramirez might have been confused about the 
date, as well as the substance of the conversation with Mager 
about the Union.

Further, Ramirez was also inconsistent in his testimony 
concerning the “presence” of Chiepello during the events in 
question. In his direct testimony, as well as on cross and 
redirect, he made no mention of Chiepello being present at 
all on that day or at any of the events in question. However, 
when pressed during an examination by undersigned con-
cerning the details on the discussions about the Union that 
Simpson allegedly overheard on August 4, and allegedly 
immediately communicated to Mager 5 minutes before the 
alleged interrogation, Ramirez for the first time asserted that 
he was speaking with Chiepello about the Union. Thus, 
Ramirez’s credibility is further undermined by this inconsis-
tency.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing, I do not credit Rami-
rez’s testimony vis-a-vis Mager’s denials, corroborated by 
Voss, and therefore shall recommend dismissal of the com-
plaint that Respondent unlawfully interrogated its employees.

B. The Allegedly Unlawful Rules

1. Applicable law

The analytical framework for assessing whether the main-
tenance of a work rule violates Section 8(a)(1) of the Act is 
set forth in Crowne Plaza Hotel, 352 NLRB 382, 383 (2008), 
quoting from Lutheran Heritage Village-Livonia, 343 NLRB 
646 (2004).

[A]n employer violates Section 8(a)(1) when it 
maintains a work rule that reasonably tends to chill em-
ployees in the exercise of their Section 7 rights. Lafay-
ette Park Hotel, 326 NLRB 824, 825 (1998). In deter-

                                                          
10 Voss testified that in response to whether he heard Mager make 

such a comment to Ramirez, “No, not that I am aware of.  That 
wasn’t said in front of me.”
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mining whether a challenged rule is unlawful, the Board 
must, however, give the rule a reasonable reading. It 
must refrain from reading particular phrases in isolation, 
and it must not presume improper interference with em-
ployee rights. Id. at 825, 827. Consistent with the fore-
going, our inquiry into whether the maintenance of a 
challenged rule is unlawful begins with the issue of 
whether the rule explicitly restricts activities protected 
by Section 7. If it does, we will find the rule unlawful.

If the rule does not explicitly restrict activity pro-
tected by Section 7, the violation is dependent upon a 
showing of one of the following: (1) employees would 
reasonably construe the language to prohibit Section 7 
activity; (2) the rule was promulgated in response to un-
ion activity; or (3) the rule has been applied to restrict 
the exercise of Section 7 rights.

352 NLRB at 383, citing 343 NLRB at 646–647.

Here, there is no contention by the General Counsel that 
any of Respondent’s rules that are alleged to be unlawful 
were promulgated in response to union activity or that any of 
the rules have applied to restrict the exercise of Section 7 
rights.

Thus, the issues are whether any of the rules in question 
explicitly restricts Section 7 activity and/or whether the em-
ployees would reasonably construe the language to prohibit 
Section 7 activity.

It is to these issues that I now turn.

2. Rule 11.3.22

This rule, as detailed above, provides that one of the 
causes for immediate termination is the “unauthorized post-
ing, distribution, removal or alteration of any material on 
Company property.”

The General Counsel contends that this rule is unlawful 
since it explicitly prohibits protected activity, such as posting 
or distribution of any material on company property and such 
a prohibition is overbroad. MTD Products, 310 NLRB 733 
(1993); Brunswick Corp., 282 NLRB 794, 795 (1987); 
Crowne Plaza Hotel, supra, 352 NLRB at 384–385.

Respondent does not dispute the general principles cited 
above that establishes that restrictions on distribution or post-
ing must be confined to “work areas.” Thus, Respondent 
argues that since no evidence was adduced regarding what 
areas of the Milford warehouse are not “work areas,” the 
General Counsel has not satisfied its burden of proof since 
company property could well be synonymous with its work 
area. I disagree. When a rule, such as Respondent’s is pre-
sumptively unlawful on its face, the employer has the burden 
to show that it communicated or applied the rule in a way 
that conveyed a clear intent to permit distribution in non-
working areas during nonworking time. Ichikoh Mfg. Inc., 
312 NLRB 1022 (1993), enfd. 41 F.3d 1507 (6th Cir. 1994); 
Pontiac Osteopathic Hospital, 284 NLRB 442, 465 (1987); 
J. C. Penney, 266 NLRB 1223, 1224 (1983). Further, where 
ambiguities appear in employee work rules promulgated by 
an employer, the ambiguity must be resolved against the 
promulgator of the rule rather than the employees, who are 
required to obey it. Norris/O’Bannon, 307 NLRB 1236, 
1245 (1992) (rule prohibiting distribution “anywhere on the 
company premises” overbroad and unlawful).

Accordingly, based on the above precedent and analysis, I 
conclude that by maintaining this rule in its employee 

agreement, Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 
Act.11

3. Rule 11.3.24

Respondent also prohibits employees from “leaving com-
pany premises without permission of management.”

It is well-settled that employees, who concertedly refuse to 
work in protest over wages, hours or working conditions, are 
engaged in “concerted activities” for “mutual aid or protec-
tion” within the meaning of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. Od-
yssey Capital Group LP III, 337 NLRB 1110, 1111 (2002); 
NLRB v. Washington Aluminum, 370 U.S. 9 (1962). It is also 
clear that the Act protects the right of employees to strike 
without notice. Bethany Medical Center, 328 NLRB 1094 
(1999). Finally, it is equally well-settled that an employer 
may not require an employee to obtain permission from 
management before engaging in protected activity since such 
a requirement is an impediment to the full exercise of an 
employee’s Section 7 rights. Trump Marina Casino Resort, 
354 NLRB No. 123, slip op. at 3 (2009); Brunswick, supra, 
282 NLRB at 798; Enterprise Products, 265 NLRB 544, 
553–554 (1982); American Cast Iron Pipe, 234 NLRB 1126, 
1131 (1978).

Therefore, Respondent’s rule requiring the permission of 
management before employees leave “Company premises”
inhibits the employees’ rights to engage in Section 7 activity 
(i.e. strike) and is violative of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 
Crowne Plaza Hotel, supra, 352 NLRB at 386–387 (rule 
prohibiting employees from leaving their work area without 
authorization before the completion of their shifts); Labor 
Ready Inc., 331 NLRB 1656, 1656 fn. 2 1657 (2000).

Respondent, however, relies on Wilshire at Lakewood, 
343 NLRB 141, 144 (2004), vacated in part in other grounds 
343 NLRB 1050 (2005), reversed and remanded sub nom. 
Jochims v. NLRB, 480 F.3d 1161 (DC Cir. 2007), and argues 
that an “almost identical rule” was found to be lawful. Re-
spondent is correct that the rule in Wilshire, supra, was 
nearly identical to the rule here.12  Respondent is also correct 
that the Board found such a provision lawful because in the 
context of that case “employees could not reasonably read 
the rule as prohibiting them from engaging in all strikes or 
similar protected concerted activity.” Id at 144.

However, Respondent conveniently ignores that the con-
text of the rule therein was that the employer was “a nursing 
home with many elderly patients, who are sick or infirm.”
Id. Therefore, the Board concluded “employees would nec-
essarily read the rule intended to insure that nursing home 
patients are not left without adequate care during an ordinary 
workday . . . Considering the fact that the respondent’s mis-
sion is to ensure adequate care for its patients, employees 
would necessarily read the rule as intended to avert such 
imminent danger, not to prohibit protected conduct.” Id.
                                                          

11 Respondent also asserts in its brief that “since Complaint was 
issued, Costco has revised the language to conform with applicable 
Board case law, only restricting distribution of materials in work 
areas.”  I note that no record evidence has been adduced confirming 
this assertion.  In any event, even if true, it would not preclude the 
finding of a violation.  Respondent’s alleged revision of the language 
in its agreement will be dealt with in the compliance phase of this 
case.

12 The rule prohibited employees from “abandoning your job by 
walking off the shift without permission of your supervisor or ad-
ministrator.”
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Here, of course, Respondent is not a nursing home or a 
health care facility so the considerations relied upon by the 
Board in Wilshire, supra, are not present. Therefore, Wil-
shire, supra, is clearly distinguishable and not dispositive. 
Crowne Plaza, supra, 352 NLRB at 387, distinguishing Wil-
shire, supra on that basis.

Accordingly, I find that Respondent has further violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by maintaining Rule 11.3.24.

4. Rule 11.7

Under this rule, Respondent states that “All Costco em-
ployees shall refrain from discussing private matters of 
members and other employees. This includes topics such as, 
but not limited to, sick calls, leaves of absence, FMLA call-
outs, ADA accommodations, workers’ compensation inju-
ries, personal health information, etc.”

The General Counsel contends, and I agree, that this rule 
explicitly prohibits the exercise of Section 7 activity and 
therefore is unlawful. I note that Respondent defines “pri-
vate matters” of members and other employees as including 
sick calls, leaves of absence, FMLA call-outs, ADAD ac-
commodations, workers compensation injuries, which cannot 
be discussed with anyone. All of these “private” matters 
clearly are terms and conditions of employment of Respon-
dent’s employees, and Respondent’s explicit prohibition of 
employees discussing these matters with anyone, which 
would include other employees or union representatives, is 
overbroad and unlawful. Double Eagle Hotel & Casino, 341 
NLRB 112, 113–116 (2004), enfd. as modified 414 F.3d 
1249 (10th Cir. 2005) (rule explicitly restricts discussion of 
terms and conditions of employment as defined by employer 
as “confidential information”).

Alternatively, I also conclude that employees would rea-
sonably conclude that Respondent’s rule prohibits them from 
discussing terms and conditions of their employment with 
other employees or with a union. NLS Group, 352 NLRB 
744, 745 (2008) (rule states that terms of employment in-
cluding compensation are confidential and disclosure of such 
terms to other parties may constitute grounds for dismissal); 
Cintas Corp., 344 NLRB 943 (2005), enfd. 482 F.3d 463 
(DC Cir. 2007) (employer deemed any information concern-
ing its “partners”13 confidential and prohibited disclosure); 
Flamingo Hilton–Laughlin, 330 NLRB 287, 288 fn. 3 (1999) 
(prohibition on employees revealing confidential information 
about “fellow employees” overbroad and unlawful); IRIS 
U.S.A. Inc., 336 NLRB 1013 (2001) (rule in handbook in-
structing employees to keep information about employees 
strictly confidential).

Respondent argues, however, that its policy says nothing 
about Section 7 rights and that its privacy policy “simply 
codifies Costco’s obligations (in some cases, legal obliga-
tions) to its members and employees, who have given per-
sonal information to Costco.”  It argues that the rule must be 
read in context, and that the privacy policy (11.7) mentions 
information that Respondent collects from employees, which 
must be kept strictly confidential and additional rules apply 
to personal health information collected in its pharmacies 
and centers, as well as personal health information related to 
employees, such as benefits and leaves of absence for medi-
cal reasons. Since these sections immediately precede the 
allegedly offending paragraph, Respondent argues that a 

                                                          
13 Partners at said employer were its employees.

reasonable employee would read its policy to prohibit only 
the disclosure of information such as medical information 
about himself that he has given to Respondent and that is 
now stored on Respondent’s database or in the employee’s 
medical or personnel file. I cannot agree.

While all of the terms and conditions of employment listed 
in the rule can be construed as relating to medical issues, that 
does not change the fact that the rule explicitly prohibits 
employees from discussing terms and conditions of employ-
ment. Thus, an employee would reasonably be constrained 
by this rule from discussing any complaint that he may have 
about how Respondent is interpreting or enforcing its poli-
cies with regard to these issues with other employees or a 
union, or indeed informing a union of what Respondent’s 
policies are concerning these items.

The best that can be said for Respondent’s position is that 
its rule is somewhat ambiguous, but in my view, if Respon-
dent intended to prohibit only discussion of private medical 
information in its files, it could easily have done so. Instead, 
it included a separate paragraph precluding discussions of 
topics, including terms and conditions of employment. Thus, 
even if the rule could be considered ambiguous, any ambigu-
ity must be construed against Respondent as the promulgator 
of the rule. Lafayette Park Hotel, supra, 326 NLRB at 828; 
Norris/O’Bannon, supra, 307 NLRB at 1245; Crowne Plaza 
Hotel, supra, 352 at 386. (“At the very least, the second 
sentence renders the rule ambiguous, and as such, it is sus-
ceptible to the reasonable interpretation that it bars Section 7 
activity.”)

Respondent cites a number of cases, which it asserts are 
dispositive. It argues that Windstream Corp., 352 NLRB 510 
(2008), “could not be more directly on point” and the facts 
therein are “impossible to distinguish from the facts involved 
here.” Respondent notes that in Windstream, as here, the 
rule in question referred to information collected by employ-
ees through the employer’s records. It also asserts that the 
Board held that the rule as modified by the employer “clearly 
identifies the target audience of the rule and makes it clear as 
well that employees can discuss among themselves personnel 
information so long as that information did not come into 
their possession through access to company records in the 
course of their job duties.” 352 NLRB at 514.

However, Respondent’s reliance is misplaced for several 
reasons. Firstly, the Board did not “hold” what Respondent 
claims in Windstream since there “no party has excepted to 
the judge’s findings with respect to the underlying complaint 
allegations.” fn. 3 at 510. Therefore, the case has no prece-
dential value concerning the portions cited by Respondent, 
which come from the ALJ’s decision. Trump Marina, supra, 
354 NLRB No. 123, fn. 2 at p 1.

More importantly, an examination of the facts in Wind-
stream, even considering the judge’s decision as persuasive, 
does not support Respondent’s reliance on the opinion. To 
the contrary, the facts there support the finding of a violation 
here. The judge relied on the employer’s modification of its 
original rule, which he viewed as clearly identifying the tar-
get audience, and making it clear that employees can discuss 
among themselves personnel information, as long as that 
information did not come into their possession through ac-
cess to company records in the course of their job duties. 
The precise “modification” referred to by the judge added the 
following to the rule, previously found by the judge to be
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unlawful.  “This does not prohibit you from disclosing or 
discussing personal, confidential information with others, so 
long as you did not come into possession of such information 
through access, which you have as a part of your formal 
company duties.”

Here, Respondent, unlike the employer in Windstream, did 
not issue any such modification, which clarifies the intent of 
the rule and makes clear to employees that they are free to 
discuss their terms and conditions of employment with oth-
ers. Indeed, as I observed below, it was Respondent’s obli-
gation to clarify any ambiguities in its rule, which it has not 
done. Thus, I find that Windstream, supra is supportive of 
my finding that Respondent’s rule is overbroad and unlaw-
ful.14

Respondent also places considerable reliance on Palms 
Hotel & Casino, 344 NLRB 1363 (2005). Once again, its 
reliance on Palms Hotel & Casino is misplaced. While Re-
spondent argues that the Board upheld the judge’s finding 
that the employer’s confidentiality rule was lawful,15 this 
assertion is incorrect. In fact, there were no exceptions to the 
judge’s dismissal of the complaint allegations pertaining to 
this rule. 344 NLRB at 1363 fn. 1. Thus, the judge’s deci-
sion concerning this rule, as well as language cited by Re-
spondent in discussing this rule, has no precedential value. 
Trump Marina, supra. Therefore, the judge’s reliance on the 
fact that the employer there, similar to Respondent here, 
published information concerning its wages and benefits to 
conclude in part that therefore employees would not rea-
sonably conclude that they are prohibited from discussing 
these matters is not persuasive precedent. Moreover, in my 
view, this fact, contrary to Respondent’s contentions, has 
little significance in assessing what an employee would rea-
sonably believe was being prohibited by Respondent’s rules. 
The fact that Respondent publishes in its manual its employ-
ees’ wages and benefits, including the benefits that it specifi-
cally prohibited employees from discussing, says nothing 
about whether it was appropriate for employees to discuss 
these benefits with other employees or outsiders, such as a 
union. Notably, in this regard, there is no evidence that Re-
spondent’s manual is available to outsiders, such as a union. 
Thus, it is quite reasonable for employees to conclude that 
they are prohibited from discussing these benefits with out-
siders, such as a union, notwithstanding the fact that these 
benefits were published in the manual and made available to 
all employees.16

Respondent also relied on the finding of the judge in 
Palms Hotel & Casino, supra, which is consistent with sev-
eral Board cases17 that the fact that Respondent’s confidenti-

                                                          
14 I express no opinion on precisely what “modification” of Re-

spondent’s rule would be sufficient to render its rule lawful.  I there-
fore do not necessarily conclude that the modification issued by the 
employer in Windstream would be sufficient to lawfully clarify 
Respondent’s rule.  I shall leave that issue to compliance.

15 The rule in question prohibited employees from “revealing, dis-
tributing or discussing such matters with outsiders or non-privileged 
team members.”  The matters referred to were the “company’s op-
erational, financial and business affairs and activities.”

16 Further, as I observed above, a reasonable employee would in-
fer from the prohibition that he was precluded from discussing with 
fellow employees any complaints that he may have about any of 
these benefits or how Respondent has implemented such benefits.

17 Safeway Inc., 338 NLRB 525, 526 (2002); Lafayette Park, su-
pra at 826; Super K-Mart, 330 NLRB 263 (1999).

ality provision has never been enforced to prohibit employ-
ees from discussing their terms and conditions of employ-
ment reinforces the view that such conduct is not covered by 
the rule. 344 NLRB at 1389.

While as I have observed above, the precedential value of 
Palms Hotel & Casino, supra is nonexistent with respect to 
any analysis of the confidentiality rule, the issue of whether 
the rule was ever enforced to prohibit protected conduct is a 
factor to be considered. (See cases cited in preceding foot-
note.) However, I note that in none of these cases were there 
an explicit prohibition on discussing terms of conditions of 
employment as we have here. Further, the lack of enforce-
ment was only one factor in assessing whether employees 
would reasonably construe the prohibitions as including pro-
tected conduct. Indeed, as I have observed above, there are 
numerous cases where, supported by the courts, the Board 
has found rules to be unlawful even in the absence of evi-
dence that it was ever enforced to punish protected conduct. 
Cintas, supra, 344 NLRB at 946, Cintas v. NLRB, supra, 482 
F.3d at 468; Guardsmark, LLC v. NLRB, 475 F.3d 369, 375–
378 (D.C. Cir. 2007), enforcing 344 NLRB 809 (2005); Fla-
mingo Hilton, supra, 330 NLRB at 288; Palms Hotel & Ca-
sino, supra, 344 NLRB at 1363 fn. 3 (rule with respect to 
loitering); Double Eagle Hotel, supra, 341 NLRB at 115; 
Main Street Terrance Care Center, 327 NLRB 522, 525 
(1999); Franklin Iron & Metal Co., 315 NLRB 819, 820 
(1994); Radisson Plaza Minneapolis, 307 NLRB 94 (1992), 
enfd. 987 F.2d 1376 (8th Cir. 1993) (Board reverses judge, 
who dismissed allegation based primarily on finding that rule 
was never enforced); Pontiac Osteopathic Hospital, supra, 
284 NLRB at 465.

Accordingly, based upon the foregoing analysis and 
precedent, I conclude that the portion of Respondent’s Rule 
11.7 that prohibits employees discussing “private” matters 
and specifics topics covered by the ban, which includes 
terms and conditions of employment, explicitly restricts Sec-
tion 7 activity. Alternatively, I also find that employees 
would reasonably construe the language of the rule to pro-
hibit Section 7 activity. Therefore, I find that Respondent 
has further violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by maintaining 
this rule in its employee agreement.18

5.  Rule 11.9
(Prohibition on Sharing Payroll Information)

Rule 11.9 of the agreement entitled “Electronic Commu-
nications and Technology Policy,” includes the following 
section.  “Sensitive information such as membership, payroll, 
confidential financial, credit card numbers, social security 
number or employee personal health information may not be 
shared, transmitted or stored for personal or public use with-
out prior management approval. Additionally, unauthorized 
removal of confidential material from Company premises is 
prohibited.”

The General Counsel asserts that two portions of this rule 
are unlawful. The first concerns the prohibition against shar-
ing payroll information. Secondly, it is asserted that the 
portion of the rule prohibiting “unauthorized removal of 
confidential information” is also unlawful. The latter conten-
                                                          

18 The General Counsel also attacks other portions of Rule 11.7 in 
connection with Respondent’s definition of “confidential informa-
tion” in connection with Rules 11.3.4 and 11.9.  I shall discuss these 
contentions below.
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tion will be dealt with below when the issue of Respondent’s 
definition of confidential information and its effect on vari-
ous rules are discussed.

With regard to the rule’s prohibition against sharing pay-
roll information, it does not define with whom such informa-
tion can be shared. Thus, it is clear, and I find, that a reason-
able employee would construe the rule as prohibiting sharing 
(or discussing) payroll information with other employees or 
with outsiders, such as a union. However, that is not the end 
of the inquiry. The meaning of the term “payroll” in this 
context is in dispute and must be determined.

I agree with the General Counsel that a reasonable em-
ployee would read that term as encompassing their wages or 
other terms and conditions of employment and that the rule 
inhibits the exercise of Section 7 conduct. Indeed, similar 
rules have been found to be unlawfully broad, and to be rea-
sonably construed by employees to restrict discussion of 
wages and other terms and conditions of employment with 
their fellow employees and with the union. Cintas, supra, 
344 NLRB at 943 (prohibition on disclosing any information 
concerning its partner employees); NLS Group, 352 NLRB 
744, 745 (2008) (rule states that terms and conditions of 
employment including compensation are confidential and 
may not be disclosed to “other parties”); Double Eagle Hotel 
& Casino, supra, 341 NLRB at 115 (information concerning 
“any of its employees”); Flamingo Hilton, supra, 330 NLRB 
at 288 (prohibiting disclosing information about “fellow 
employees”); Bigg’s Food, 342 NLRB 425 fn. 3 (2006) (pro-
hibiting disclosure of salaries to anyone outside the com-
pany); Pontiac Osteopathic Hospital, supra, 284 NLRB at 
466 (rule bans discussion of employee problems).

Respondent argues that the term “payroll” in its rule refers 
only to “the confidential business information component of 
payroll, such as budgeted payroll and expenses and the like, 
which Costco does not wish to share with its competitors and 
has nothing to do with terms and conditions of employment 
of its employees.” Respondent also cites a number of cases, 
where it contends that the Board, as well as the courts, has 
found rules similar to Respondent’s rule not to be unlawful. 
Aroostook County Regional Ophthalmology, 81 F.3d 209, 
213 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (rule prohibiting discussion of “official 
business”); Mediaone of Greater Florida, 340 NLRB 277, 
279 (2003) (rule prohibits disclosure of “employee informa-
tion”); Safeway, Inc., 338 NLRB 525, 527 (2002) (rule pro-
hibiting providing “sensitive information” to others, which 
includes “financial information” and “personal informa-
tion”); Lafayette Park, supra, 326 NLRB at 826 (prohibition 
on divulging “hotel-private information”); Super K-Mart, 
supra, 330 NLRB at 263–269 (disclosure of “company busi-
ness and documents”).

Respondent also asserts that viewing the rule in the con-
text of other portions of the rule makes it clear that Section 7 
rights are not implicated by its prohibition on discussion of 
“payroll.” Aroostook v. NLRB, supra, 81 F.3d at 212–213 
(rule read in context designed only to prevent employees 
from providing medical information, relying on placement of 
term “office business” in manual in relation to discussion of 
confidential medical information); Mediaone, supra, 340 
NLRB at 229 (term “employee information” appears within 
larger provision prohibiting disclosure of “proprietary infor-
mation”; thus, Board concludes that employees “reading rule 
as a whole would reasonably understand that it was designed 

to protect the confidentiality of respondent’s proprietary 
business information rather than to prohibit discussion of 
employee wages”); Safeway, supra, 338 NLRB at 527 (“per-
sonal records” and “payroll data” must read in context of 
entire rule, which included numerous categories that do not 
implicate any Section 7 rights; Board finds it improbable that 
employees would infer that the rule referred to their own 
wages or working conditions).

While I agree with Respondent that the rule must be read 
in the context of other portions of the Agreement, I do not 
agree that such an analysis supports Respondent’s contention 
that employees would reasonably view the prohibition on 
disclosure of “payroll” information as referring only to the 
“confidential business information component of payroll,”
which Respondent does not want to share with its competi-
tors. While some portions of Rule 11.9 are clearly non-
Section 7 items, such as “confidential financial,” “credit card 
numbers,” “social security numbers” or “employee personal 
health” in the same sentence as “payroll,” other portions of 
the rule and the agreement shed a different light on how em-
ployees would perceive the term “payroll.” Thus, another 
portion of Rule 11.9 states that employees are responsible for 
ensuring that “all” information relating to Respondent, its 
“employees” (emphasis supplied) is secure and not be dis-
seminated. This overbroad provision would reasonably be 
construed to cover wages or working conditions of its em-
ployees. Cintas, supra.

Further and more importantly, Section 5.0 of the agree-
ment is entitled as follows: “How do I get Paid? Compensa-
tion and Payroll.”  It then makes reference to tab in the back 
for specific wages and goes on to state “for payroll and ac-
counting purposes, the work week is Monday through Sun-
day and the workday is midnight to midnight.” The agree-
ment then goes on to define scheduling, minimum work 
hours and work schedule. Thus, Respondent’s agreement 
itself links the term payroll with compensation. In these 
circumstances, considering the term “payroll” in the context 
of the agreement, I find that employees would reasonably 
construe the language to prohibit Section 7 activity. Cintas, 
supra;19 Flamingo Hilton, supra; Double Eagle Hotel & Ca-
sino, supra.

The above findings demonstrate that Respondent’s reli-
ance on Aroostook County, supra,20 Mediaone, supra and 
Palms Hotel & Casino,21 is misplaced since in each of these 

                                                          
19 I note the Court of Appeal’s decision affirming the Board ap-

proved the Board’s reliance therein on the principle that “any ambi-
guity must be construed against the promulgator of the rule.”  482 
F.3d at 469 citing Lafayette Park, supra, 326 NLRB at 828.  That 
principle is equally applicable here.  At best, the rule is “ambiguous” 
and must be construed against Respondent.

20 I note that Aroostook County, supra is a Court of Appeals case 
reversing the Board’s decision in 317 NLRB 218 (1995), that the 
rule therein was overbroad and unlawful.  Ordinarily, I am bound by 
the Board’s view notwithstanding the Court of Appeals’ reversal.  
However, the court decision in Aroostook County, supra was favora-
bly discussed and relied upon by the Board in Lafayette Park, supra, 
326 NLRB at 826.  I find that the court’s views on this issue to be 
more reflective of current Board law, although the Board decision in 
Aroostook County was not specifically overruled.  Nonetheless, as 
detailed above and below, Aroostook County is clearly distinguish-
able from the instant case.

21 As I observed above in discussing earlier rules, the portion of 
the judge’s decision dismissing the complaint allegation concerning 
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cases, the context and placement of the rules in question 
were substantial reasons for finding them lawful.

Respondent’s reliance on Safeway, supra is also mis-
placed. Respondent is correct that the rule in question therein 
did include prohibition on disclosure of “payroll data” and 
“salary information.” However, Safeway, supra was a repre-
sentation case, and the Board was reviewing a hearing offi-
cer’s decision that the rule was overbroad and that its main-
tenance warranted the setting aside of the election. The 
Board decision found it unnecessary to pass on the hearing 
officer’s finding that the rule was overbroad. See footnote 3, 
338 NLRB at 526.

The Board did reverse the hearing officer’s decision con-
cerning the effect of the maintenance of the rule on the elec-
tion. In that connection, the Board majority22 principally 
relied on the fact that the employees were represented by a 
union in a RD election. It also stressed that the rule was 
never enforced and that to the extent that any employee was 
confused about their statutory right to discuss terms and con-
ditions of employment with the union or with other employ-
ees, “the union was ideally placed to advise employees of 
their rights.”  Further, when making some of the comments 
quoted by Respondent, where it rejected finding that the rule 
had a chilling effect on Section 7 rights because it depended 
on “a chain of inferences upon inferences,” the majority 
concluded that “that it is highly improbable that the employ-
ees in this unit, who have been represented by the union for 
several years would draw these inferences23 under the cir-
cumstances of this case.”  Id at 327. Therefore, it is clear the 
basis for the majority’s decision in Safeway that the rule in 
question did not warrant setting aside the election, was the 
presence of the union on the scene, which could advise the 
employees about any confusion concerning the meaning of 
the rule. Since there is no union here, Safeway, supra, has 
minimal precedential significance and is not dispositive.

Respondent also argues, as it did in regard to other rules in 
issue, that there is no evidence that it ever enforced the rule 
to prohibit or punish protected activity. As I have observed 
above, Board precedent supported by the courts consistently 
find that such evidence does not preclude a finding that em-
ployees would reasonably conclude rules inhibit Section 7 
activity. Cintas v. NLRB, supra, 482 F.3d at 375; Guards-
mark v. NLRB, supra at 374–376 (D.C. Cir. 2007); Double 
Eagle Hotel, supra, 341 NLRB at 115; Radisson Plaza, su-
pra. I so find.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing analysis and prece-
dent, I conclude that employees would reasonably construe 
Respondent’s prohibition on disclosure of “payroll” to inhibit 

                                                                                        
the rule cited by Respondent was not excepted to.  Thus, it has no 
precedential value.  Trump Marina, supra.  However, even consider-
ing it for even persuasive authority, it is distinguishable since there 
the rule in question preceded items precluded from disclosure, such 
as customer or marketing lists or strategies, financial information, 
computer files or programs.  Therefore, the judge concluded that 
employees would reasonably understand that what respondent de-
sires to maintain as confidential is proprietary business information, 
and that they are not precluded from “disclosing their wage informa-
tion.”  No such finding can reasonably be made here.

22 Member Liebman vigorously dissented from the majority opin-
ion and would have adopted the hearing officer’s report.

23 The inferences referred to are that employees would infer that 
the references to personnel and payroll records in the context of the 
rule referred to their own wages and working conditions.

their exercise of Section 7 activity and that its maintenance 
by Respondent is violative of Section 8(a)(1) of Act.

6. Rule 11.9

(Requiring Employees to use “Appropriate Business Deco-
rum”

in Communicating with Others and Precluding Employees
from Damaging Another Employee’s Reputation)

The General Counsel argues that Respondent’s rules re-
quiring employees to use “appropriate business decorum” in 
communications (including conversations) and prohibiting 
employees from posting messages that “damage any person’s 
reputation” are overbroad and unlawful because they do not 
define the term “appropriate business decorum” or explain 
actions that that might “damage any person’s reputation.”
The General Counsel argues that the failure of the rules to 
define what conduct is prohibited leads to the conclusion that 
employees could reasonably view various protected activi-
ties24 as violative of Respondent’s policies. Lutheran Heri-
tage Village, supra, 343 NLRB at 650;25 University Medical 
Center, 335 NLRB 1318, 1321 (2001), enfd. denied 335 F.3d 
1079 (D.C. Cir. 2003); Southern Maryland Hospital, 293 
NLRB 1209, 1222 (1989), enfd. in pertinent part 916 F.2d 
932, 940 (4th Cir. 1990); Ridgeview Industries, 353 NLRB 
1096 (2009) (rule prohibiting employees from engaging in 
behavior designed to create discord or lack of harmony found 
unlawful).

Respondent, on the other hand, argues that employers are 
entitled to establish rules to maintain a civil workplace, and 
that a reasonable employee would view such rules as sup-
porting that proposition, and would not view either of these 
rules as proscribing Section 7 activity. With respect to the 
General Counsel’s assertion that the rules “could” be inter-
preted to prohibit Section 7 activity, this assertion is contrary 
to current law. Respondent cities Lutheran Heritage Village, 
“Where as here, the rule does not refer to Section 7 activities, 
we will not conclude that a reasonable employee would read 
the rule to apply to such activity simply because the rule 
could be interpreted that way. To take a different analytical 
approach, would require the Board to find a violation when-
ever the rule could conceivably be read to cover Section 7 
activity, even that reading is unreasonable. We decline to 
take that approach.” 343 NLRB at 647. (Board finds rule 
prohibiting “abusive and profane language,” “harassment”
and “verbal, mental and physical abuse” to be lawful.)

In this instance, I agree with Respondent’s analysis of 
relevant precedent, and that the General Counsel has not met 
its burden of proof that employees would (emphasis sup-
plied) reasonably construe these rules as regulating or inhib-
iting Section 7 conduct. It is quite significant that the Gen-
eral Counsel cites the dissenting opinion of Members Lieb-
man and Walsh in Lutheran Heritage Village, supra.  The 
General Counsel seems to be anticipating that the views ex-
pressed in this dissenting opinion, which is consistent with 
dissenting opinions filed by these and other members in sev-
eral cases,26 will now be changed in view of the new compo-
                                                          

24 Such protected activities include (1) protests about the company 
during a walkout; (2) a concerted protest about a supervisor; or (3) 
calling a coworker a “scab” during a strike.

25 Dissenting opinion of Members Liebman and Walsh.
26 Palms Hotel & Casino, supra, 344 NLRB at 1368–1370; 

Tradesman International, 338 NLRB 460, 463–465 (2002); Fla-
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sition of the Board. Whether the General Counsel is correct 
or not in that assumption is not for me to decide. I must and 
shall apply current law and not rely upon dissenting opin-
ions. The essence of these dissents is, as argued by the Gen-
eral Counsel, that where employers maintain rules that 
“could” be perceived as inhibiting Section 7 conduct, that 
there is an obligation to define permissible conduct and clar-
ify for employees that the rule does not prohibit employees 
from engaging in Section 7 activities. Lutheran Heritage 
Village, supra at 647, 650; Palms Hotel & Casino, supra at 
1369–1370; Flamingo Hilton, supra at 287; Tradesman In-
ternational, supra at 463–465; Lafayette Park, supra at 831. 
However, as the majority opinions in these and other cases 
makes clear, that is not the law. Indeed, these decisions have 
considered rules similar to the rules here and concluded, 
contrary to the General Counsel and the dissenting opinions 
therein, that where the rules in question on their face are 
clearly intended to promote “a civil and decent workplace,”
even though in some circumstances protected conduct might 
be restricted, reasonable employees would (emphasis sup-
plied) not infer that the rules restrict Section 7 activity. Lu-
theran Heritage Village, supra at 647–649 (rule prohibiting 
“abusive and profane language,” “harassment” and “verbal, 
mental and physical abuse”); Palms Hotel & Casino, supra at 
1367–1368 (rule forbids employees from engaging in “any 
type of conduct, which is or has the effect of being injurious, 
offensive, coercing or interfering with fellow team members 
or patrons”); Tradesmen International, supra at 460–463 
(rule prohibiting “disloyal, disruptive, competitive or damag-
ing” conduct and prohibiting “verbal or other statements, 
which are slanderous or detrimental to the company or any of 
the company’s employees”); Lafayette Park, supra at 825–
826 (rules prohibit engaging in conduct that does not meet 
employer’s “goals and objectives” and “improper conduct, 
which affects the employee relationship with the job, fellow 
employees, supervisors or the hotel’s reputation or good will 
in the community”). See also Ark Law Vegas Restaurant
Corp., 335 NLRB 1284, 1291–1292 (2001) (rule prohibiting 
“conducting oneself unprofessionally or unethically with the 
potential of damaging the reputation or a department of the 
company” and “participating in any conduct that tends to 
bring discredit to or reflects adversely on yourself, fellow 
associates, the company or its guest, or that adversely affects 
job performance”); Adtranz ABB Daimler Benz v. NLRB, 253 
F.3d 19, 25–28 (DC Cir. 2001), reversing 331 NLRB 291, 
293 (2000) (rule prohibiting use of “abusive or threatening 
language to anyone on company premises”).27

I additionally rely on Albertson’s Inc., 351 NLRB 254, 
258–259 (2007), where the Board dismissed complaint alle-
gations that rules prohibiting “disclosing confidential infor-
mation or any other similar act constituting disregard for the 
                                                                                        
mingo Hilton, 330 NLRB at 287 fn. 2, 289 fn. 7; Lafayette Park, 
supra, 326 NLRB at 830–831.

27 While ordinarily I am bound by the Board’s decision rather 
than the court’s reversal, that is not the case with respect to Adtranz, 
supra.  Thus, the Court’s decision in Adtranz was relied on heavily 
on both Palms Hotel & Casino, supra at 1367–1368, and Lutheran 
Village, supra at 647, agreeing with the court’s view (rather than the 
Board’s) that a reasonable employee would not construe language 
prohibiting “threatening or abusive language” as prohibiting Section 
7 conduct.  Thus, the court’s decision in Adtranz represents current 
Board law.

company’s best interest,” and prohibiting employees from 
engaging in conduct, which has a negative effect on the 
company’s reputation or operation or employee morale or 
productivity, were overbroad or violative of the Act. The 
Board emphasized that neither rule expressly covers Section 
7 activity, and there is no evidence that the employer applied 
the rules to protected activity or that it was adopted in re-
sponse to protected activity. The Board went on to observe 
that it “did not believe that either rule can reasonably be read 
as encompassing Section 7 activity. To ascribe such a mean-
ing to these words is quite simply far-fetched. Employees 
would reasonably believe that these rules were intended to 
reach serious misconduct but not conduct protected by the 
Act.”  Id at 259. I find the above language applicable to the 
rules here that the General Counsel is attacking. I find in 
agreement with Respondent that a reasonable employee 
would infer that Respondent’s purpose in promulgating the 
challenged rules was to ensure a “civil and decent” work-
place and not to restrict Section 7 activity. Lutheran Heri-
tage, supra at 648.

The General Counsel’s reliance in University Medical 
Center, supra, and Ridgeview Industries, supra, is unpersua-
sive. University Medical Center, supra did find, as the Gen-
eral Counsel correctly points out, that a rule prohibiting em-
ployees from engaging in “insubordination . . . or other disre-
spectful conduct toward a service investigator, service coor-
dinator or other individual” was unlawful. 335 NLRB at 
621. However, that decision was reversed by the D.C. Cir-
cuit in Community Hospitals v. NLRB, 335 F.3d 1079, 1088–
1089 (D.C. Cir. 2003). The court agreed with the employer 
relying on Adtranz, supra that the rule was lawful. The court 
viewed that the rule prohibiting disrespectful conduct applied 
to “incivility and outright insubordination” and that the 
Board’s suggestion that employees would consider such 
conduct prohibitive of Section 7 activity “is misplaced.” The 
court added, “In short, to quote the Board itself in a more 
realistic moment ‘any arguable ambiguity’ in the rule ‘arises 
only through parsing the language of the rule, viewing the 
phrase . . . in isolation and attributing to the (employer) an 
intent to interfere with employee rights.’ Lafayette Park 
Hotel, 326 NLRB at 825.” 335 F.3d at 1089.

While again, I am cognizant of the fact that ordinarily I 
am bound by Board rather than court law, once more later 
Board precedent establishes that the court’s view in Univer-
sity Medical Center, has been adopted by the Board. See 
Lutheran Heritage Village, supra at 647, where the Board 
relied on the court’s decisions in University Medical, as well 
as Adtranz, to conclude that “a reasonable employee reading 
these rules would not construe them to prohibit conduct pro-
tected by the Act.”

Finally, the General Counsel relies on the relatively recent 
case of Ridgeview Industries, supra. While the General 
Counsel is correct that the judge found therein that a rule 
prohibiting employees from “engaging in behavior designed 
to create discord or disharmony” was unlawful, 353 NLRB 
1096, slip. op at 17, that finding has no precedential value 
here. Thus, there were no exceptions to the judge’s finding 
that the employer violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by 
maintaining rules prohibiting employees from engaging in 
behavior designed to create discord or lack of harmony. See 
353 NLRB 1096 fn. 2. Thus, the judge’s finding, although 
affirmed by the Board, cannot be cited as authority for find-
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ing the rule unlawful. Trump Marina, supra. Moreover, an 
examination of the facts in Ridgeview Industries, supra, es-
tablish that even under the judge’s analysis, Ridgeview does 
not support a finding of a violation here.

Thus, the judge emphasized in applying Lutheran Heri-
tage Village, supra, that the rule in issue was utilized as a 
partial basis to discipline employee Balczak for his sarcastic 
remark to another employee vis-a-vis Company President 
Nykamp’s earlier antiunion argument. Further, the rule was 
highlighted in disciplinary notices given to Balczak, and 
Plant Manager MacLaren told Balczak that his rule viola-
tions were highlighted (or circled). The judge then con-
cluded that “Balczak’s conversations or attempt at a conver-
sation with a fellow employee was clearly protected in that 
Balczak’s comments were directed at Nykamp’s earlier anti-
union propaganda. Thus, inasmuch as the rule has been ap-
plied to restrict Section 7 rights, I conclude that it tends to 
chill the exercise of Section 7 rights and violates Section 
8(a)(1).” Id at 17. Therefore, it is clear that the judge in 
Ridgeway Industries, supra, based his finding of a violation 
solely on the fact that the rule has been applied to restrict 
Section 7 activity. That finding has no applicability here, 
where there is no evidence that Respondent applied these 
rules to restrict protected conduct.

Accordingly, based on the foregoing analysis and prece-
dent, I recommend dismissal of these complaint allegations.

7. Rules relating to disclosure of confidential information
(because of how respondent defines “confidential”

information)

Rule 11.3.4 cites one of the causes for termination as “un-
authorized collection, disclosure, or misuse of confidential 
information relating to Costco, its members, employees, 
suppliers or agents, including but not limited to: a) Unauthor-
ized removal of confidential information.

Section 11.7, entitled privacy policy, and Section 11.9, en-
titled electronic communications and technology policy, read 
as follows:

11.7 Privacy Policy

Costco respects our members’ and employees’ right 
to privacy, and it is up to each employee to take every 
precaution to make sure we respect this right.

*In the course of our business, we collect from our 
members and employees a substantial amount of per-
sonal information (such as name, address, phone num-
ber, e-mail address, social security number, membership 
numbers and credit card numbers). All of this informa-
tion must be held strictly confidential and cannot be dis-
closed to any third party for any reason, unless (1) we 
have the person’s prior consent or (2) a special excep-
tion is allowed that has been approved by the legal de-
partment.

11.9 Electronic Communications and Technology Policy

Every employee is responsible for ensuring that all 
information relating to Costco, its members, suppliers, 
employees, and operations is secure, kept in confidence, 
and not disseminated or misused.

 Sensitive information such as member-
ship, payroll, confidential financial, credit card 
numbers, social security numbers, or employee 

personal health information may not be shared, 
transmitted, or stored for personal or public use 
without prior management approval. Addi-
tionally, unauthorized removal of confidential 
material from Company premised is prohib-
ited.

The General Counsel asserts that under all three rules em-
ployees would reasonably construe each rule dealing with 
confidentiality to prohibit activity protected by Section 7. In 
this connection, the General Counsel argues that Respondent 
defines “confidential” to include employees’ names, ad-
dresses, phone numbers and email addresses, which they 
otherwise have a protected right to share with each other or 
with outside entities, such as unions, in the course of pro-
tected activities.

I agree with the General Counsel that this provision is 
overly broad and would reasonably be perceived by employ-
ees as inhibiting Section 7 conduct. Albertson’s, supra, 351 
NLRB at 259, 366 (unlawful to discipline employee for dis-
closing work schedule, including list of names of employees 
to the union). Ridgely Mfg. Co., 207 NLRB 193, 197 (1973), 
enfd. 510 F.2d 185 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (employee engaged in 
protected conduct by obtaining names of employees on time-
cards).

Thus, the applicable rule is that employees are entitled to 
use for organizational purposes information and knowledge 
that comes to their attention in the normal course of their 
work activity but are not entitled to their employer’s private 
or confidential records. Ridgely Mfg., supra at 197; Anser-
phone of Michigan, 184 NLRB 305, 306 (1970) (employee 
obtained names and addresses of employees from office 
manager, who was rightly in possession of such informa-
tion); Cf. Roadway Express, 271 NLRB 1238, 1239–1240 
(1984) (employee not engaged in protected activity when he 
removed business records from employer’s files not in the 
normal course of his work activity).

Here, this portion of Respondent’s rule is overbroad since 
it does not distinguish between information obtained in the 
normal course of work or information obtained from Re-
spondent’s files or even between information obtained by 
employees from contact with or discussions with other em-
ployees. For example, as in Ridgely, supra, or Albertson’s, 
supra, an employee obtained information concerning names 
of employees and possibly addresses from timecards or 
posted work schedules or other sources in the regular course 
of their employment. Yet, employees would reasonably 
perceive that Respondent’s rule prohibits them from disclos-
ing such information to other employees or to the union.

Respondent cites Asheville School, 347 NLRB 877 (2006),
for the proposition that disclosure of confidential wage and 
salary information by a payroll accountant is unprotected. 
However, in that case, the judge concluded that the payroll 
accountant possessed special custody of such records and 
was aware that her job duties included keeping that informa-
tion confidential. However, Respondent’s rule is still over-
broad as it is not restricted to such an employee or to such 
information. It is, as I observed above, broad enough to 
include prohibiting any employee from disclosing informa-
tion to the union concerning names and addresses of employ-
ees even where the employee obtained such information 
from respondent’s work schedule or timecards, and employ-
ees would, in my view, construe the rule.
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The General Counsel also noted that Rule 11.9 defines 
confidential to include “all information relating to Costco 
and its employees.”  I have concluded above that this rule is 
overbroad and unlawful. Cintas, supra; Double Eagle Hotel, 
supra; IRIS USA, supra. Similarly, I also concluded above 
that the mention of “payroll” in the rule is also overbroad and 
unlawful since a reasonable employee would believe that it 
prohibits him from engaging in Section 7 conduct. Cintas, 
supra; Bigg’s Foods, supra. In view of these findings, Re-
spondent’s definition of confidential impinges on Section 7 
rights. Therefore, its rule prohibiting the “unauthorized re-
moval of confidential material from Company premises” is 
unlawful and violative of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. Double 
Eagle Hotel, supra, 341 NLRB at 115 (communication rule 
unlawful in light of link between unlawful confidentiality 
rule and the communication rule); Bigg’s Foods, supra at 436 
(consideration of confidentiality policy and confidentiality 
statement together).

Similarly, Section 11.3’s listing as one of the causes for 
termination as “unlawful removal of confidential information 
from Company premises” is also unlawful and violative of 
Section 8(1)(a) of the Act.  I so find. Double Eagle Hotel, 
supra; Bigg’s, supra.

THE REMEDY

Having found that Respondent has violated Section (1) of 
the Act. I shall recommend that it cease and desist there-
from, and take certain affirmative action designed to effectu-
ate the purposes and policies of the Act.

Where an employer’s overbroad or unlawful rules are 
maintained on a companywide basis, the Board will gener-
ally order the employer to post a notice at all of its facilities 
where the unlawful policy has been or is in effect. Longs 
Drug Stores California, 347 NLRB 500, 501 (2006); Cintas, 
supra at 943, 962; Guardsmark LLC, 344 NLRB 809, 812 
(2005); Albertson’s Inc., 300 NLRB 1013 fn. 2 (1990), enf. 
denied on other grounds, mem. NLRB v. Albertson’s Inc., 17 
F.3d 395 (9th Cir. 1994).

Such an order is appropriate here since the rules found 
unlawful are in effect in most of Respondent’s facilities na-
tionwide. I shall therefore recommend that the notice be 
posted at all facilities of Respondent’s, where the portions of 
its employee agreement that contain the unlawful rules are in 
effect.28

I shall also recommend that Respondent’s obligation to re-
scind or modify the rules found to be unlawful shall be gov-
erned by the Board’s analysis and order in Guardsmark LLC, 
supra.29

                                                          
28 The record reflects that the agreement is not in effect at some of 

Respondent’s unionized facilities.
29 “The Respondent may comply with our Order by rescinding the 

unlawful provisions and republishing its employee handbook with-
out them.  We recognize, however, that republishing the handbook 
could entail significant costs.  Accordingly, the Respondent may 
supply the employees either with handbook inserts stating that the 
unlawful rules have been rescinded, or with new and lawfully 
worded rules on adhesive backing which will cover the old and 
unlawfully broad rules, until it republishes the handbook without the 
unlawful provisions.  Thereafter, any copies of the handbook that are 
printed with the unlawful rules must include the new inserts before 
being distributed to employees.”  Guardsmark, supra at 812 fn. 8.  
Consistent with Guardsmark, the Order will additionally provide the 
Respondent with the option of immediately rescinding the unlawful 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.  The Respondent is and has been an Employer engaged 
in commerce of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2.  The Union is a labor organization within the meaning 
of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3.  The Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
by maintaining rules in its “Employee Agreement” that pro-
hibit the unauthorized posting, distribution, or alteration of 
any material on Company property, that may reasonably be 
interpreted as prohibiting employees from discussing their 
wages and other terms and conditions of employment with 
other employees and third parties, including union represen-
tatives, that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting 
employees from sharing or storing wage information or in-
formation relating to other terms and conditions of employ-
ment of employees without permission of management, that 
prohibit the removal of confidential material from Company 
premises, which Respondent has defined as conduct that may 
be reasonably be interpreted as including wages and other 
terms and conditions of employment of its employees and 
that prohibit employees from leaving Company premises 
during their work shift without permission of management.

4.  The Respondent has not violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 
Act in any other manner as alleged in the complaint.

5.  The aforesaid unfair labor practices affect commerce 
within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on 
the entire record, I make the following recommended30

ORDER

The Respondent, Costco Wholesale Corporation, Milford, 
Connecticut, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, 
shall

1.  Cease and desist from
(a) Maintaining provisions in its Costco Wholesale em-

ployee agreement (the employee agreement) that prohibit the 
unauthorized posting, distribution, or alteration of any mate-
rial on Company property.

(b) Maintaining provisions in its employee agreement that 
prohibit its employees from leaving Company premises dur-
ing their work shift without permission of management.

(c) Maintaining provisions in its employee agreement that 
may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting employees from 
discussing their wages and conditions of employment with 
other employees and third parties, including union represen-
tatives.

(d) Maintaining provisions in its employee agreement that 
may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting its employees 
from sharing or storing wage information or information 
relating to other terms and conditions of employment of em-
ployees without permission of management.

(e) Maintaining provisions in its employee agreement that 
prohibit the removal of confidential material from Company 
premises, which Respondent has defined as conduct that may 
                                                                                        
provisions or modifying the existing provisions to make clear that 
the discussion of wages and other terms and conditions of employ-
ment is not prohibited.  Longs Drug Stores, supra at 501 fn. 5.

30 If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the 
Board’s Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and rec-
ommended Order shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be 
adopted by the Board and all objections to them shall be deemed 
waived for all purposes.
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reasonably be interpreted as including wages or other terms 
and conditions of employment of its employees.

(f) In any like or related manner, interfering with, restrain-
ing, or coercing employees in the exercise of rights guaran-
teed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2.  Take the following affirmative actions necessary to ef-
fectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Rescind or modify the language in the following provi-
sions of its “Employee Agreement.”

1.  Sections 11.3 and 4(a), 11.3.22 and 11.3.24,
2.  Section 11.7 to the extent that it defines the 

name, address, phone number and E-mail address of 
employees as confidential and prohibits disclosure of 
such information to any third parties,

3.  The portions of Section 11.7 that provides that 
“All Costco employees shall refrain from discussing 
private matters of other employees. This includes topics 
such as, but not limited to sick calls, leaves of absence, 
FMLA call outs, ADA accommodations, workers’
comp. injuries . . . , etc.,”

4.  Section 11.9 to the extent that it provides that all 
information relating to Costco’s employees must not be 
disseminated, that payroll information may not be 
shared or transmitted and unauthorized removal of con-
fidential material (as defined overbroadly by Respon-
dent in its Employee Agreement) from Company prem-
ises is prohibited.

(b) Furnish all current employees with inserts for the cur-
rent “Employee Agreement” that

1.  advise that the unlawful rules have been re-
scinded or modified, or

2.  provide the language of lawful provisions or pub-
lish and distribute to all current employees a revised 
“Employee Agreement” that

a.  do not contain the unlawful provisions, or
b.  provide the language of lawful provisions.

(c) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at 
each of its facilities in the United States, where its “Em-
ployee Agreement” is in effect, copies of the attached notice 
marked “Appendix.”31  Copies of the notice, on forms pro-
vided by the Regional Director for Region 34, after being 
signed by the Respondent’s authorized representative, shall 
be posted by the Respondent and maintained for 60 consecu-
tive days in conspicuous places including all places where 
notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable 
steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the 
notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other 
material. In the event that, during the pendency of these 
proceedings, the Respondent has gone out of business or 
closed the facility involved in these proceedings, the Re-
spondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy 
of the notice to all current employees and former employees 
employed by the Respondent at any time since May 3, 2009.

(d) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with 
the Regional Director a sworn certification of a responsible 

                                                          
31 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court 

of appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a 
Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order 
of the National Labor Relations Board.”

official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the 
steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the complaint is dismissed in-
sofar as it alleges violations not found.

Dated, Washington, D.C.   August 11, 2010
APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey 
this Notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your 

behalf
Act together with other employees for your benefit 

and protection
Choose not to engage in any of these protected ac-

tivities

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our Costco Whole-
sale employee agreement (the employee agreement) that 
prohibit the unauthorized posting, distribution, or alteration 
of any material on Company property.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our employee agree-
ment that prohibit you from leaving Company premises dur-
ing your work shift without permission of management.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our employee agree-
ment that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting you 
from discussing your wages and other terms and conditions 
of employment with other employees and third parties, in-
cluding union representatives.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our employee agree-
ment that may reasonably be interpreted as prohibiting you 
from sharing or storing wage information or information 
relating to other terms and conditions of employment of em-
ployees without permission of management.

WE WILL NOT maintain provisions in our employee agree-
ment that prohibit the removal of confidential material from 
Company premises, which we have defined as conduct that 
may reasonably be interpreted as including your wages or 
other terms and conditions of employment.

WE WILL NOT, in any like or related manner, interfere with, 
restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of your rights guaran-
teed you by Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL rescind or modify the language in the following 
provisions of our “Employee Agreement.”

1.  Sections 11.3 and 4(a), 11.3.22 and 11.3.24,
2.  Section 11.7 to the extent that it defines the 

name, address, phone number and E-mail address of 
employees as confidential and prohibits disclosure of 
such information to any third parties,

3.  The portions of Section 11.7 that provides that 
“All Costco employees shall refrain from discussing 
private matters of other employees. This includes topics 
such as, but not limited to sick calls, leaves of absence, 
FMLA call outs, ADA accommodations, workers’
comp. injuries . . . , etc.,”
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4.  Section 11.9 to the extent that it provides that all 
information relating to our employees must not be dis-
seminated, that payroll information may not be shared 
or transmitted and unauthorized removal of confidential 
material (as defined overbroadly by Respondent in the 
Agreement) from Company premises is prohibited.

WE WILL furnish all current employees with inserts for the 
current “Employee Agreement” that advise that the unlawful 

rules have been rescinded or modified or provide the lan-
guage of lawful provisions, or

WE WILL publish and distribute to all you a revised “Em-
ployee Agreement” that (1) does not contain the unlawful 
provisions, or (2) provides the language of lawful provisions.

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORPORATION
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~cc Associcllion of /~LL Corporate Cou~l LEXO LOGY: 
OFCCP's 2013 budget justification reveals focus on enforcement activity 
and new selection process for multi-establishment evaluations 
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lhe U.S. Department of Labor released its fiscal year (FY) 2013 Budget Request eartier 
this year. As usual, the Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs' (OFCCP's) 
justification for its requested budget provides a blueprint for what lies ahead with the 
OFCCP. OFCCP's FY2013 congressional budget justification is available here. 1he 
plans announced in this year's budget justification that are likely to have a significant 
impact on the federal contractor community. Author page. 

More and Higher Quality Audits: OFCCP will set out to complete 4,530 thorough 
compliance evaluations in FY2013, a 12% increase overFY20121evels.ltalso 
appears that OFCCP wants to pay attention to the quality of compliance 
investigations, not just the quantity. The OFCCP plans to conduct regularbaining 
and implement monitored operational audits in field offices. The OFCCP's efforts 
towards training, quality and accuracy may improve the consistency of the OFCCP Author page. 
compliance officers during audits, but it also may make audits more difficult if 
auditors are imposing additional requirements. The proposed training materials 
have not been released to the public so the contractor community is in the dark 
regarding what standards are to be applied to them. 
Be Alert to Enterprise-Wide Audits; New "Strategic" Selection Process: Another 
big, though not surprising, development is OFCCP's plan to implement a "strategic· 
selection process to prioritize enforcement efforts and pinpoint multi-establishment Author page. 

and indusby-wide deficiencies and violations. Contractors have been hearirg for 
some time now about OFCCP's plan to crack down on those it calls "egregious 
violators" and enterprise-wide patterns of discrimination. It appears that OFCCP 
has come up with a formula that purports to find these contractors. OFCCP does 
not provide any specifics about its new strategic selection process, and its lack of 
transparency is troubling. OFCCP also remarked on its ·renewed collaborative 
enforcement approach with the Office of the Solicitor (SOL) and other Author page • 

Departmental agencies; to increase its attention on those with multiple 
establishments and within industries of specific interest to the OFCCP. Conb'actors with multiple 
locations should anticipate greater attention and should be more vigorous in conductirg self­
audits and resolving apparent issues. 
New Compliance Manual: OFCCP is also in the process of updating its compliance 
evaluation manual with revised enforcement procedures. The FY 2012 procedures are expected 
to support a more robust and thorough compliance evaluation process, as well as create a level 
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of consistency across regions. Our sources tell us that the new manual is in the final stages of 
review. 
Continued Emphasis on Eliminating the Pay Gap: It should come as no surprise to 
contractors that the OFCCP anticipates continuing its effort to combat pay discrimination 
through increasing the number and quality of its investigations of contractor pay practices. The 
OFCCP is more focused on pay equity than it has ever been and we expect that trend to 
continue. 
Sharper Focus on the Construction Industry: Construction contractors should be on their 
toes, as the budget justification provides some specifics about the OFCCP's plans to get 
actively involved with federal and federally-assisted construction contractors and subcontractors 
at the earliest stages of construction and to encourage construction contractors' recruitment and 
retention efforts of women, and racial, and ethnic minorities. OFCCP states that it will be 
directing its enforcement efforts specifically toward so-called Mega Projects, which OFCCP 
defines as ''federal or federally-assisted construction projects lasting longer than one year, and 
likely to have a major employment or economic impact on a community." According to OFCCP, 
a focus on mega projects will enable it to utilize its enforcement resources more efficiently 
because such projects "tend to involve larger contractor and subcontractorworkforces." Thus, it 
is more important than ever for constructor contractors to be audit-ready and keep up to date on 
the latest developments at the OFCCP concerning the construction industry. 
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Associated General Contractors’ report claims OFCCP’s disability regs
proposal will cost construction industry employers more than agency
estimates
The OFCCP has significantly underestimated the cost to construction employers of proposed regulatory
revisions for federal contractors regarding workers with disabilities and veterans, concludes a new analysis by
the Associated General Contractors of America (AGC). The analysis was based on detailed evaluations of the
hiring requirements conducted by construction firms that would be covered by the rule. According to the report,
the disability regulations proposal, if implemented as proposed, would cost employers 30 times more than the
agency has predicted and the veterans regulatory proposal would cost employers 20 times more.

“The administration has grossly underestimated the financial and administrative burdens that these new rules
would impose, particularly on small businesses,” said Brian Turmail, the association’s spokesperson in a
statement. “If the proposed rules take effect, many small construction firms may no longer be able to afford to
work on federal projects.”

Regulatory proposal regarding workers with disabilities. Of deep concern in the contractor community is
the OFCCP’s pending proposal that would require federal contractors (and subcontractors) to set a 7 percent
hiring goal for workers with disabilities and would impose increased data collection, recordkeeping, recruitment,
training, and policy dissemination requirements. The OFCCP’s Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (NPRM)
containing these and other proposed amendments to its regulations implementing Section 503 of the
Rehabilitation Act of 1973 was published in the Federal Register (76 FR 77056-77105) on December 9, 2011.

Specifically, the OFCCP is suggesting that federal contractors would be required to set a hiring goal of having
seven percent of their employees be workers with disabilities in each job group of the contractors’ workforce,
but it is soliciting comments on the potential use of a utilization range between four and ten percent. To
annually evaluate their utilization of individuals with disabilities, the NPRM proposes that contractors use the
job groups established for utilization analyses under their Executive Order 11246 affirmative action programs.
The proposed goal is derived primarily from disability data collected as part of the Census Bureau’s American
Community Survey.

The comment period on this proposal closed on February 21, 2012, and approximately 540 comments were
submitted. Those stakeholders opposing the proposal generally focused on their assertions that the regulations
would not be effective as a practical matter and on the extraordinary cost burden of compliance.

Veterans’ employment regulatory proposal. Another pending initiative receiving a lot of attention is the
proposal to revise the OFCCP’s regulations at 41 CFR Parts 60-250 and 60-300 that implement the Vietnam
Era Veterans Readjustment Assistance Act (VEVRAA). This NPRM was published in the Federal Register on
April 26, 2011 (76 FR 23358-23425), and the comment period ended on July 11, 2011.

The proposed changes would require contractors, for the first time ever, to establish annual hiring benchmarks
(i.e. numerical targets) to assist in measuring the effectiveness of their affirmative action efforts, and it would
increase data collection requirement on job referrals, applicants and hires. It would also clarify mandatory job
listing requirements, under which a contractor must provide job vacancy and contact information for each of its
locations to an appropriate employment service delivery system. In addition, it would require contractors to
engage in at least three specified types of outreach and recruitment efforts each year and require that all
applicants be invited to self-identify as a “protected veteran” before they are offered a job.

Approximately 110 comments were submitted regarding this proposal. The main concerns expressed by
contractors was that the proposal focused on process over results, that it would be very burdensome and
expensive to implement, and that it would ultimately not be very effective in its goal of increasing the
employment opportunities of veterans.

Goals and benchmarks or quotas? The AGC asserts that both proposals would require contractors to
implement hiring quotas, but the OFCCP has vehemently denied that either proposal mandates quotas. The
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disability regulations proposal refers to “goals” and the veterans’ proposal requires “benchmarks,” yet the AGC
has rejected the agency’s characterizations, and the term “quotas,” rather than “goals” or “benchmarks” is used
throughout the AGC’s report and accompanying press statement.

Some experts agree that the disability regulations proposal would require hiring quotas, but note that hiring
quotas for the disabled are lawful because individuals without disabilities are not a protected class. Unlike race-
or gender-based quotas, there is apparently no case law or statutory requirement to indicate that quotas for
individuals with disabilities or for veterans are unlawful. However, some commentators have pointed out that
the implementation of goals, benchmarks and/or quotas for individuals with disabilities, and especially
veterans, may have an unlawful disparate impact on protected race and gender groups. Therefore, even if the
“goals” and “benchmarks” are constructively quotas, it is not clear that they would be unlawful, and if so, under
what circumstances.

Compliance burdens. According to Turmail, the disability regulations proposal would cost construction firms
$14,056 per year for each of their establishment locations, 30 times higher than the $473 compliance cost the
administration suggested in its proposed rules. In addition, employers would have to spend at least 1,444
hours per establishment location complying with the new rule, 185 times longer than the 7.8 hours federal
officials estimated.

The veterans’ proposal would cost construction firm employers a minimum of $11,333 per year per office
location, 20 times more than the $560 estimated by the OFCCP, Turmail said. Moreover, that proposal would
require construction employers to spend at least 1,267 hours per year per office site to comply, 140 times
longer than the nine hours OFCCP originally suggested. Turmail asserted that the added burden the new rules
would impose on firms, when combined with the cost of complying with other regulations would likely be too
much to bear for many small firms considering working on federal projects.

Given that the AGC’s report was issued on June 27, 2012, well after the comment deadline for both proposals,
it is not clear what, if any, impact it might have on the pending final regulations or any subsequent legal
challenges thereto.

Harkin announces plans to reintroduce Healthy Families Act
February 8th, 2013
Senate Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions (HELP) Committee Chairman Tom Harkin (D-Iowa) announced
in an op-ed for Politico on Tuesday, February 5, that he plans to reintroduce the Healthy Families Act to
provide paid sick days to American workers. Harkin’s announcement coincided with the 20th anniversary of the
enactment of the Family and Medical Leave [Read more...]

Study says using technology to increase workplace productivity may actually
slow workers down
February 8th, 2013
In today’s business environment, conventional wisdom has it that the release of new communications
technology and online tools has made workers more efficient. Yet new research in the area of neuroscience
belies that assumption: while the human brain will try to respond to constant communications, it is not, in fact,
wired to stay focused on [Read more...]

Ginsburg denies emergency stay application related to constitutionality of
NLRB recess appointments
February 7th, 2013
On February 4, U.S. Supreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg denied an emergency stay application filed
by HealthBridge Management LLC. The company cited legal confusion over the controversial recess
appointments made by President Barack Obama to the NLRB. HealthBridge indicated that it would ask Justice
Antonin Scalia to review the petition. Because Ginsburg denied the [Read more...]
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Telecommuting could save employees and employers time, money, grief,
Challenger, Gray reports
February 7th, 2013
With a new report detailing the growing cost of daily commuting to and from work, one workplace authority
wonders if it is time for the nation’s employers to make a serious commitment to expanding the use of
telecommuting strategies. “Right now, a very small fraction of the nation’s workers who could viably work from
home [Read more...]

Federal right-to-work bill introduced in Senate
February 6th, 2013
On January 31, Senator Rand Paul (R-Ky) introduced legislation to amend the National Labor Relations Act to
prohibit the use of union security clauses in collective bargaining agreements. Under the National Right-to-
Work Act (S. 204), employers across the country could no longer condition employment upon the payment of
union dues or fees. The bill would [Read more...]
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